

### **University of Huddersfield Repository**

Boland, Alicia

A Natural Experiment that Explored the Beliefs and Perceptions of a School Community Towards Physical Activity, and the Impact of Prompts on these Beliefs and Perceptions

#### **Original Citation**

Boland, Alicia (2017) A Natural Experiment that Explored the Beliefs and Perceptions of a School Community Towards Physical Activity, and the Impact of Prompts on these Beliefs and Perceptions. Masters thesis, University of Huddersfield.

This version is available at http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/id/eprint/34397/

The University Repository is a digital collection of the research output of the University, available on Open Access. Copyright and Moral Rights for the items on this site are retained by the individual author and/or other copyright owners. Users may access full items free of charge; copies of full text items generally can be reproduced, displayed or performed and given to third parties in any format or medium for personal research or study, educational or not-for-profit purposes without prior permission or charge, provided:

- The authors, title and full bibliographic details is credited in any copy;
- A hyperlink and/or URL is included for the original metadata page; and
- The content is not changed in any way.

For more information, including our policy and submission procedure, please contact the Repository Team at: E.mailbox@hud.ac.uk.

http://eprints.hud.ac.uk/



A Natural Experiment that Explored the Beliefs and Perceptions of a School Community Towards Physical Activity, and the Impact of Prompts on these Beliefs and Perceptions.

Alicia Boland

A thesis submitted to the University of Huddersfield in partial fulfilment of the requirements for the degree of Masters by Research.

The University of Huddersfield in collaboration with CP Active.

October 2017

Page 1

# **Copyright Statement**

- i. The author of this thesis (including any appendices and/ or schedules to this thesis) owns any copyright in it (the "Copyright") and s/he has given The University of Huddersfield the right to use such Copyright for any administrative, promotional, educational and/or teaching purposes.
- Copies of this thesis, either in full or in extracts, may be made only in accordance with the regulations of the University Library. Details of these regulations may be obtained from the Librarian. Details of these regulations may be obtained from the Librarian. This page must form part of any such copies made.
- iii. The ownership of any patents, designs, trademarks and any and all other intellectual property rights except for the Copyright (the "Intellectual Property Rights") and any reproductions of copyright works, for example graphs and tables ("Reproductions"), which may be described in this thesis, may not be owned by the author and may be owned by third parties. Such Intellectual Property Rights and Reproductions cannot and must not be made available for use without permission of the owner(s) of the relevant Intellectual Property Rights and/or Reproductions.

# <u>Abstract</u>

Physical inactivity is a major public health concern in the UK, placing strain on the health and well-being of individuals, and also on the economy. Research has shown how the environment we live in can shape our physical activity behaviour, and by changing these it may contribute to increased levels of physical activity being undertaken by both adults and adolescents. The Nudge Theory proposes that individual behaviour can be changed by making subliminal changes to the environment, such as altering the choice architecture and using point-of-decision prompts, however there is limited evidence to date which has established the effectiveness of such interventions. The aim of this research was to explore the beliefs and perceptions of a school community towards physical activity, and the impact of environmental prompts on these beliefs and perceptions.

This study was a natural experiment and involved placing prompts around a secondary school, to explore their impact on the physical activity beliefs and perceptions of students and their teachers. The study utilised a mixed methods approach. Qualitative data was gathered using focus groups with eight year eleven (15/16 year old) female students and seven teachers (male and female) from a secondary school, in a socially and economically deprived area in the North West of England. Quantitative data was gathered using questionnaires, which were administered to measure physical activity beliefs and perceptions before and after prompts were placed around the school.

The findings from this study suggest that prompts may have a positive influence on the physical activity beliefs and perceptions of some adults, as they encouraged them to think about ways in which they could incorporate physical activity into their busy, daily lives. For the other teachers, the prompts had little influence on their beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity. However, they were more engaged as professionals in relation to the prompts impacting on their students. The students, whilst not expressing negatively towards the prompts, appeared to be disengaged with physical activity, and the prompts failed to influence their beliefs and perceptions of physical activity. What was clear in this study was how the school environment was heavily focused around academic achievement, with little attention being given to physical activity. The 'whole school' environment seemed to have a negative impact upon physical activity. The findings from this study suggest that schoolbased interventions are needed which address the school's physical, social, policy and cultural environment to promote positive physical activity beliefs and perceptions. Qualitative data from this study provided an insight into how prompts may have a positive impact on the physical activity beliefs and perceptions of some individuals, but may be ineffective for others. However, further research is needed to establish the effectiveness of nudging interventions and their influence on beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity.

# **Table of Contents**

Chapter 1: Introduction and Background	5
1.1 The benefits of being physically active	6
1.2 Inactivity levels in the UK	7
1.3 Current government policies to tackle inactivity	7
1.4 Current theoretical frameworks underpinning physical activity	8
1.5 Changing the environment to increase physical activity	11
Chapter 2: Literature review	
2.1 Barriers and facilitators of being physically active	12
2.2 The Transtheoretical Model and physical activity	17
2.3 Understanding behaviour and behaviour change	
2.4 Choice architecture and nudge interventions	
2.5 Using natural experiments in health research	
2.6 A qualitative perspective	
Chapter 3: Aims of the study	27
Chapter 4: Methodology and Methods	
4.1 Philosophical influences	
4.2 A mixed methods approach	
4.3 Design	
4.4 Setting	
4.5 Recruitment, sampling and participants	
4.6 Qualitative data collection methods	
4.7 Quantitative data collection methods	
4.8 Data analysis	
4.9 Ethics	
Chapter 5: Findings	
5.1 Quantitative analysis	
5.2 Qualitative analysis	
Pre-intervention - Staff	
Post-intervention – Staff	
Pre-intervention – Students	49
Post-intervention – Students	56
Chapter 6: Discussion	60
6.1 Limitations	68

\_

Chapter 7: Implications	
Chapter 8: Conclusion	
References	
Appendix	

# Word Count: 24,807

# **Chapter 1: Introduction and Background**

Physical activity is defined as 'any bodily movement produced by skeletal muscles that requires energy expenditure' (WHO, 2016). Current government guidelines recommend that adults (aged 19-64 years) should take part in at least 150 minutes of moderate intensity activity, in bouts of ten minutes or more, or 75 minutes of vigorous intensity physical activity each week (Department of Health, 2011). For children and young people (5-18 years) it is recommended that they should engage in at least 60 minutes of moderate to vigorous intensity physical activity daily (Department of Health, 2011). Examples of moderate intensity physical activity that meet these guidelines include cycling and walking, which can be incorporated into daily life. Example of vigorous intensity physical activity include running, swimming and playing sports. As well as meeting these guidelines, it is recommended that all individuals reduce their time spent being sedentary for extended periods. For example, reducing time spent watching TV and playing video games and swapping a long car or bus journey for walking part of the way (Public Health England, 2016).

# 1.1 The benefits of being physically active

The health benefits of physical activity are vast but some of these include; reducing the risk of cardiovascular disease, some cancers and type 2 diabetes (Warburton et al, 2006). Being physically active also helps to maintain a healthy weight and reduces the risk of obesity in both adults and children (NHS, 2015). Psychological benefits of physical activity include improved self-confidence and self-esteem; reduces feelings of stress, depression and anxiety and improves sleep (Sharma et al, 2006). Additional benefits for children and adolescents include; developing new social skills, increasing concentration and improving academic achievement (NHS, 2015). It is essential for young people to develop positive physical activity behaviours as research indicates that inactive children and adolescents are likely to become inactive adults (Telama et al, 2005). This makes physical inactivity among young people a risk for developing health related conditions, such as cardiovascular disease, in later life (WHO, 2016).

## 1.2 Inactivity levels in the UK

Despite the well-established benefits of physical activity, figures from The Physical Inactivity and Sedentary Behaviour Report (British Heart Foundation, 2017) show that more than 20 million UK adults are failing to meet the government's physical activity guidelines. Physical inactivity is high in all regions across England, but it's particularly worse in the North West which has the highest rates of people who are failing to meet the governments guidelines (47% of the adult population) compared with the South East which has 34% (British Heart Foundation, 2017). Physical inactivity rates are also high in children and adolescents; however activity levels in children tend to decrease even more as they get older and move into adolescence, this is especially noticeable in girls. For example, in England, only 8% of girls aged 13-16 years old met the recommended amounts of physical activity in 2015, compared to 14% of boys the same age (British Heart Foundation, 2017).

These low physical activity levels are contributing greatly to the health burden in the UK with inactivity being a major risk factor for developing chronic illnesses, causing 17% of premature deaths each year in the UK and shortening the lifespan by up to five years (UK Active, 2014). Not only does physical inactivity have detrimental health risks for the individual, it is also detrimental for the economy and places a huge burden upon the National Health Service (NHS). Statistics show that the national cost of physical inactivity in England is around £8.2 billion, this includes the direct cost of treating those individuals with diseases which are caused by inactivity and also the indirect costs caused by sickness absence (UK Active, 2014). According to statistics from UK Active (2014) the total public health funding in 2013/14 due to physical inactivity was over £30 million and local authorities spent around 2.4% of their public health budgets on programmes and initiatives to encourage individuals to become more active.

#### **1.3 Current government policies to tackle inactivity**

Whilst recognising that societal and economic factors contribute to the lack of physical activity being undertaken by individuals, many reports, policies and interventions have placed the emphasis on individual responsibility. The Foresight Report – 'Tackling Obesities: Future Choices (Government Office for Science, 2007) reported how obesity is a complex problem, which has increased as a result of modern day life and is not solely down to individual responsibility. Yet, policies and interventions developed after The Foresight Report have focused on individualistic approaches. For example, Change4Life, Public Health

England's 'One You Campaign' and the 2010 to 2015 adult government obesity policy: 'Obesity and healthy eating' (Department of Health, 2015) have all been centred around 'helping people to make healthier choices' by providing information and advice with regards to physical activity and healthy eating. These campaigns and policies are suggesting that the main interventions for tackling the health burden in England lies solely with the individual and the lifestyle choices they make, therefore diverting attention away from the responsibility that society and the environment has in preventing physically active lifestyles (Ulijaszek & McLennan, 2016).

The current UK childhood obesity strategy: 'a plan for action', whilst similar to the adults strategy by supporting and encouraging children to make healthier lifestyle choice, this policy does propose a more collaborative approach of communities, schools and families working together to increase physical activity. One way in which they aim to significantly reduce childhood obesity is by introducing a soft drinks levy, the money from this levy will be spent on high quality programmes to increase physical activity in schools. As part of this policy, Sport England's strategy 'Towards an Active Nation' (2016) has introduced a project which offers new ideas and opportunities for families and children to be active together. This strategy also aims to help children acquire a basic level of competence in physical activity and sport, and encourages children to take part for enjoyment, regardless of their ability. This strategy is useful as it intends on making changes to the way physical activity is delivered in schools and involves local and national bodies working together with schools and families to increase physical activity levels in children. However, ultimately it's still an individualistic approach as the main focus is supporting and encouraging children to be active, again shifting responsibility away from the environment.

Whilst physical activity is clearly part of a national health strategy, physical inactivity levels in the UK are still on the rise, and many of the policies and interventions are centred around supporting individuals to take responsibility for their health and to lead healthy and active lifestyles. However, changing individual beliefs and behaviours to physical activity is complex and isn't always directly influenced by policy initiatives.

#### 1.4 Current theoretical frameworks underpinning physical activity

### 1.4.1 The Transtheoretical Model

As physical activity behaviour change and the factors influencing participation are very complex, models are used to provide a framework for understanding these factors that act as barriers or facilitators of physical activity. These models are used to influence the design, implementation and evaluation of interventions to increase physical activity. One model that is used widely in influencing physical activity behaviour change interventions is The Transtheoretical Model (Prochaska & DiClemente, 1984). This model has been described as an integrative and comprehensive model of behaviour change drawn from all major theories of psychotherapy (Prochaska & Norcross, 1999). The Transtheoretical Model (TTM) posits that physical activity behaviour change occurs through five stages. These are; precontemplation (sedentary, no intention); contemplation (sedentary and six month intention); preparation (irregularly active and intention); action (regularly active for the last six months) and maintenance (regularly active for longer than six months) (Nigg et al, 2011). Ten processes of change are present in this model, these include cognitive, affective, evaluative and behavioural strategies, that individuals may use to progress to the maintenance stage of physical activity behaviour (Nigg et al, 2011). Other constructs of The Transtheortical Model include self-efficacy (confidence and belief that one can continue the physical activity behaviour and overcome temptations) and decisional balance (pros vs. cons of becoming physically active) (Nigg et al, 2011). The importance of self-efficacy for initiating and maintaining the physical activity behaviour derives from social-cognitive theories of behaviour (Bandura, 1977). Research has consistently found positive correlations between self-efficacy and stages of change, in that self-efficacy will increase as the individual moves through the stages (Nigg et al, 2011). Similarly, the pros (gains) of changing and becoming physically active increases as the individual moves through the stages, and conversely, cons (losses) should decrease (Marshall & Biddle, 2001).

The TTM focuses entirely on the individual and the psychological influences on the physical activity behaviour. While this model continues to be useful in the development and implementation of physical activity interventions (Kahn et al, 2002; Marshall & Biddle, 2001), it does not address wider influences on physical activity participation, such as the physical and social environment and public policy (Sallis et al, 2006). Research indicates that behaviour change interventions are more likely to be successful when they take into account these multiple levels of influence on physical activity behaviour (Sallis et al, 2006).

#### 1.4.2 Ecological Model of Health Behaviour

Ecological models are used by researchers to study these wider influences on physical activity behaviour, and they focus specifically on people's interactions with their environments (Stokols, 1992). Sallis and colleagues (2006) created a multilevel, ecological model specific to physical activity participation and active living. At the centre of the model are the intrapersonal factors such as demographics, biological and psychological factors. The next layer of the model is the individual's perceived environment including accessibility and perceived crime. Surrounding these factors are the four domains of active living including; active transport, occupational activities, household activities and active recreation, these reflect the principle of ecological models in that they should be behaviour specific (Glanz et al, 2015). The next part of the model is behaviour settings which includes the access and characteristics of the individual's neighbourhood, workplace, school and home environment. The next layer of the model is the policy environment such as health care policies and incentives. Outside of the model is the natural environment, information environment and sociocultural environment as these are not tied to specific behaviour settings. For example, information can be present in most behaviour settings including counselling in health care settings, advertising and in the media (Sallis et al, 2006). This ecological model provides a comprehensive framework for understanding complex physical activity behaviour, and thus, can be used in the design and implementation of comprehensive interventions to increase physical activity (Sallis et al, 2006). It is now suggested that physical activity interventions will be most effective when they operate on multiple levels. Sallis et al (2006) recommended that, based on ecological models, interventions should;

*`ensure safe, attractive, and convenient places for physical activity; implement motivational and educational programmes to encourage use of those places; and use mass media and community organisation to change social norms and culture'* (p.299).

Physical activity participation is thought to be increased when an individual's environment and public policies supports the healthy behaviour (Glanz et al, 2008). It is still of importance that individuals are educated on the benefits of physical activity, and that psychological influences are taken into account, yet if the environments are not supportive, physical activity behaviour change interventions will not be as effective (Glanz et al, 2008). Ecological models are advantageous as they take into account the combination of individual level factors and environmental/policy factors on physical activity behaviours when designing interventions and strategies (Humpel et al, 2002).

#### 1.5 Changing the environment to increase physical activity

As the environment we live in can shape our individual behaviour, and can act as a barrier to being physically active, changing aspects of these environments may contribute to increased levels of physical activity being undertaken by both children and adults (Sallis et al, 2006). One way in which researchers have attempted to change individual physical activity behaviour is by making subliminal changes to the environment, based on The Nudge Theory (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). One way of changing the environment to 'nudge' individuals to more healthy behaviours is by altering the choice architecture. Choice architecture is defined as *'the environments within which people make choices'* (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). The Nudge Theory holds three main beliefs; choice architecture greatly influences how people make choices; choice architecture is unavoidable – so why not design in ways that improve health and well-being, and, individuals can be nudged without having to restrict their freedom of choice (Daler & Sunstein, 2008). 'Nudging', in contrast to paternalism which restricts freedom of choice (by command and control regulation), aims to guide individuals to a particular behaviour, but always leaves open the option for the individual to choose another course (Leonard, 2008). Thaler and Sunstein (2008) proposed the following definition:

"A nudge is any aspect of the choice architecture that alters behaviour in a predictable way without forbidding any options or significantly changing their economic incentives. A nudge must be easy and cheap to avoid"

According to Thaler and Sunstein (2009), nudges can be implemented by anyone (governments, businesses, individuals), they come in a wide range of forms (e.g. financial incentives, providing relevant information, by blocking an inappropriate choice) and they seek to achieve a wide range of outcomes (e.g. to prompt a single response or a long-lasting behavioural change). The idea of 'nudging' individuals to certain behaviours, for example to become more active, by changing aspects of the environment has been found to be effective in some studies, and will be discussed in more detail in the next section.

The current study is part of a wider project, using Nudge Theory, initiated by CP Active. CP Active is an organisation which aims to tackle wider social health issues, such as physical inactivity, at a community level rather than focusing simply on individual level approaches. The 'Environmental Nudges' project involved placing prompts in and around communities and workplaces in the North of England, and exploring their impact on individual's physical activity beliefs and perceptions. The 'Environmental Nudges' project took place in three sites

around the North of England including; a council office, a secondary school and an academic institution. However, the current study was one element of this wider project as it explored the impact of the prompts within the secondary school only. The prompts included wall posters, stickers and banners, which aimed to get people to think about leading more active lifestyles. The prompts were then evaluated using both qualitative and quantitative research methods.

# Chapter 2: Literature review

# 2.1 Barriers and facilitators of being physically active

The existing research on barriers and facilitators to physical activity is extensive and not limited to the ones outlined in this literature review. This study has included the most common barriers and facilitators to physical activity which have been reported across a number of studies and reviews on adolescent girls and adults. These factors will be discussed in relation to categories taken from an ecological model which are; demographic, psychological, behavioural, social and environmental. Barriers and facilitators specific to adolescent girls and adults will be discussed separately where appropriate.

#### Demographic factors

Studies have consistently found relationships between socioeconomic status (SES) and physical activity in adults, the research indicates that those individuals with higher SES are more likely to be physically active than those with lower SES (Breuer et al, 2010; Gidlow et al, 2006). A person's occupation and income may determine whether they can participate in regular physical activity as some may not have the physical or financial resources to be physically active (Farrell et al, 2014).

A review into SES and physical activity in adolescents found similar results, as more than half of the studies (58%) reported that adolescents with higher SES were more physically active than those of lower SES (Stalsberg & Pedersen, 2010). One reason for this is due to financial reasons as taking part in organised sports can be expensive such as sports equipment and clothing, memberships and transport to and from facilities (Stalsberg & Pedersen, 2010).

Housing markets mean that low-income individuals usually live near other low-income individuals and so these areas may have low tax bases to finance recreational facilities for

physical activity (Moore et al, 2008) and so this means having to travel longer distances to physical activity facilities (Gordon-Larsen et al, 2006). Low SES neighbourhoods also tend to have higher rates of crime which prevents some people from taking part in physical activity outside, especially at night (Gomez et al, 2004; Holt et al, 2009). The review by Stalsberg and Pedersen (2010) also found that low-income families may have unfavourable shift patterns, such as evenings, which often leaves 'real spare time' to take part in physical activity. This often leaves the oldest child babysitting younger siblings and helping with housework, again leaving little time for physical activity (Dagkas & Stathi, 2007; Macdonald et al, 2004). However, research into this topic has found inconsistent results as 26 studies included in this review (Stalsberg & Pedersen, 2010) reported either an opposite or no relationship between SES and physical activity in adolescents. The authors proposed this could be down to adolescents being independent and making their own choices, based on motivation and interest to be physically active, and so socioeconomic background becomes less relevant.

Gender can also have an influence on physical activity participation. Research has found that psychosocial factors such as self-efficacy, attitudes, motivation, enjoyment and perceived barriers and benefits (decisional balance) to physical activity are lower in females than in males (Kim et al, 2010; Edwards & Sackett, 2016; Robbins et al, 2004).

#### **Psychological factors**

Self-efficacy refers to an individual's belief in his/her ability to perform behaviours necessary to produce specific performance attainments, and reflects confidence in the ability to exert control over one's own motivation, behaviour, and social environment (Bandura, 1997). Self-efficacy has consistently been found to predict physical activity in healthy adults (Sharma et al, 2005, Ayotte et al, 2010). In the most recent reviews on correlates of physical activity participation among adults, self-efficacy was the clearest correlate (Choi et al, 2017; Bauman et al, 2012). However, the research on self-efficacy and adolescents is mixed, a review by Biddle et al (2011) found self-efficacy and enjoyment was positively associated with physical activity in adolescent girls. While earlier reviews by Sallis et al (2000) and van der Horst (2007), found that self-efficacy and enjoyment was inconsistently associated with physical activity in adolescents.

Other common psychological barriers to physical activity for adolescent girls include; perceived competence, perceived lack of time, lack of interest and motivation,

disengagement, issues surrounding body image and appearance, and the effort required (Biddle et al, 2011).

Some of the most common psychological barriers for adults include, but are not limited to; lack of time and motivation, high job strain, stress, fatigue and low energy (Justine et al, 2013; Schutzer & Graves, 2004; Reichert et al, 2007; Choi et al, 2017; Kirk & Rhodes, 2011). Insufficient time to be active was one of the most reported barriers by adults, across a number of studies (Fletcher et al, 2008; Phipps et al, 2010; Justine et al, 2013). This supports the view that many individuals see taking part in physical activity as time consuming (Pham et al, 2007) and often value it as the lowest priority in their lives (Justine et al, 2013; Schutzer & Graves, 2004).

#### Behavioural attributes

Marshall et al (2004) found that the most common sedentary behaviour among adolescents was TV/video viewing; however this behaviour was inconsistently associated with physical activity. Biddle et al (2005, 2011) reported similar results, whilst van der Horst (2007) found no associations between sedentary behaviours and physical activity. However, after school and during weekends may be the times when adolescents choose to engage in these sedentary behaviours over physical activity, and this may have been missed if researchers did not analyse the data within these specific time periods (Biddle et al, 2011).

Negative health behaviours, such as drinking alcohol and unhealthy dietary habits, were found to act as barriers for adults' participation in physical activity (Choi et al, 2017).

#### Social and cultural influences

Parental support was consistently positively associated with physical activity in adolescents across a number of studies (Sterdt et al, 2014). Studies have also reported positive associations between physical activity and support from peers (Voorhees et al, 2005; Van der Horst, 2007; Zhang et al, 2012). Belanger et al (2011) found that lower levels of physical activity in adolescent girls is associated with poor social support from friends and negative social validation (conforming to behaviours of others in the group). In line with these findings, a review of qualitative studies also found positive relationships between support from family and peers and physical activity (Allender et al, 2006).

The influence of the PE teacher has also been found to be of importance on adolescents physical activity participation as Hagger et al (2009) found forming positive relationships

with PE teachers increased participation. Similarly, lack of teacher support and encouragement acted as barriers for adolescent girls (Allender et al, 2006). Another important influence which has been found to increase adolescent girl's participation in physical activity was having same sex PE teachers/sports leaders (Mitchell et al, 2015). Researchers have also identified positive associations between having positive role models and a reduction in the likelihood of risky health behaviours and an increase in the likelihood of positive health behaviours e.g. physical activity (Strunin et al, 2015, Yancey et al, 2011).

Studies on adolescent girl's physical activity behaviours have consistently found that having male peers in PE classes can discourage some girls from taking part as they are too competitive; dominate PE classes; they are stronger than girls and have different levels of ability (Allender et al, 2006; Eime et al, 2013; Mitchell et al, 2015; Flintoff & Scraton, 2001).

Similar social influences on physical activity behaviour have also been found on studies with adults. Some of these positive influences on physical activity participation included; receiving social support from friends and family (Choi et al, 2017).

#### Environmental influences

Sallis et al (2006) believe that physical activity is not just a matter of personal choice and motivation, but also a function of the built environment. The built environment refers broadly to the availability of footpaths, parks, recreational facilities, traffic safety and other neighbourhood characteristics that promote recreational physical activity, as well as active transport (Ferdinand et al, 2012). A review by Sallis et al (2012) found that the availability of, and proximity to recreational facilities have been consistently associated with greater physical activity among adolescents and adults. This review also found that having bus and train stops nearby and a variety of destinations (e.g. shops, work, education) close by was positively associated with physical activity. Other aspects of the built environment which were found to be positively associated with physical activity, in both adults and adolescents, were low traffic areas, safe footpaths, cycle lanes and street lighting (Sallis et al, 2012). However, all studies included in this review utilised quantitative research methods, thus the findings may not accurately represent individual's thoughts and other environmental barriers they face with regards to physical activity.

Nevertheless, a recent systematic review of qualitative studies into the relationship between the environment and physical activity (Moran et al, 2014) found similar results to that of the quantitative review (Sallis et al, 2012). This review identified five main themes that were prominent across a number of studies. These were; pedestrian infrastructure (e.g. quality and safety of footpaths); safety/crime related (such as a lack of street lighting and police); access to exercise opportunities (e.g. recreational facilities, green space and daily destinations); aesthetics (nice scenery) and environmental conditions (weather). These findings are useful as they support the quantitative findings on what aspects of the environment promote or discourage physical activity, but they also provide researchers with a more comprehensive understanding of the 'how' and 'why' the environment has an impact.

A lack of sports/leisure facilities within the local area was found to be an important barrier, for adolescents, across a number of studies (Powell et al, 2006; Humbert et al, 2006; Dagkas & Stathi, 2007).Whereas, living close to leisure facilities, the countryside, tennis courts etc. was found to increase physical activity (Dagkas & Stathi, 2007). However, in areas of low SES adolescents often report that there is 'not much to do' and tend to just 'hang around' with friends in their free time (Dagkas & Stathi, 2007).

#### The school environment

Research on physical activity in children and adolescents has found how the school and PE environment can inhibit physical activity (Moore et al, 2010; Pawlowski et al, 2014; Mitchell et al, 2015). Physical school environment barriers that have been identified include; lack of physical activity facilities; poor changing facilities; and a lack of outdoor space and equipment to be active (Morton et al, 2016). This review also found how the school social environment can have an impact on physical activity participation; perceived PE teacher support and positive PE teacher behaviour was consistently positively associated with physical activity (Morton et al, 2016). The most prominent school barrier to physical activity participation, for girls, across a number of studies was the negative influence of a competitive ethos and a desire to raise the profile of the school (Morton et al, 2016). Whilst boys reported the competitive element of PE as a motivator, girls reported negatively stating that it removed the fun (Dwyer et al, 2006).

Morton et al (2016) also found how the wider school culture surrounding physical activity, and how the school approaches physical activity has an impact on how active the students are. For example the following factors lead to a 'negative culture' of physical activity in schools; PE was seen as a low priority compared to other academic subjects; physical activity in general was undervalued and a lack of staff volunteering to support extra-curricular activities as they were unwilling to give up the little time they have (Morton et al, 2016).

Wider school policies that were found to create barriers included; PE uniforms (this was specific to girls and linked to body image concerns); homework and school scheduling that leaves students too tired or busy for physical activity (Morton et al, 2016). Another factor that inhibited participation in girls was having PE classes in the middle of the day due to worries about their appearance (Kirby et al, 2013, Hannay et al, 2013). School policies that allow exemptions for PE may be an additional barrier as this provides students with a reason to opt out, and thus encourages disengagement (Morton et al, 2016). Across the quantitative and qualitative studies included within the review by Morton et al (2016) consistent support was found for (a) the importance of activity settings within school for physical activity, (b) the creation of a 'culture' of physical activity within the school, (c) positive teaching behaviours and (d) availability of intramural opportunities for all students. As this review utilised a mixed-studies approach and an inclusive definition of the school environment it has been able to provide a comprehensive understanding of how the whole school environment can inhibit participation, particularly for adolescent girls, and lead to school-based interventions to increase physical activity.

#### 2.2 The Transtheoretical Model and physical activity

Many interventions to increase physical activity to date have been underpinned by individuallevel theoretical frameworks (Buchan et al, 2012). The model which has been used most widely to inform interventions is the TTM (Prochaska & DiClemente, 1984). This model is useful as it provides a framework to categorise individuals into a stage of change, but it also suggests how to encourage individuals to change their physical activity behaviour and move through the stages (Buchan et al, 2012). The existing literature on the effectiveness of interventions that have utilised the TTM is mixed. Adams and White (2003) reviewed the literature and found that 73% of short term (<6 month) studies reported a positive effect compared to control. Whilst only 29% of long term studies (>6 months) reported positive effects, suggesting the TTM may not be an effective framework for promoting long-term maintenance of physical activity behaviour change. In other systematic reviews, no evidence of using TTM was advantageous in increasing physical activity behaviour as oppose to using other models (Riemsma et al, 2002; van Slujis et al, 2006). However, a more recent review found that all of the studies based on TTM reported positive results, compared to ones that were based on The Theory of Planned Behaviour (Ajzen, 1991) which wasn't found to be effective in increasing physical activity (Abdi et al, 2015). The treatment groups made significant progress through the stages of change and TTM constructs, compared to individuals in the control groups. Some of the studies within this review used quasi-experimental studies, which may have led to more accurate findings than studies which had used RCT's and cross-sectional studies.

The inconsistency in findings as to whether the TTM can be successfully applied to health behaviour change interventions could be due to the fact that some behaviours are more suitable to stage-based interventions than others (Biddle et al, 2005). Researchers and practitioners that use models which solely focus on the individual, like the TTM, may be underestimating the fact that physical activity is a complex phenomenon with multiple factors influencing one's decision to being physically active (Buchan et al, 2012). As outlined within this literature review, external and social factors such as SES and social support, contribute greatly to physical activity behaviour, which the TTM fails to take into account. Other reasons for these inconsistencies could be down to methodological flaws in the research as most studies had used randomised controlled trials (RCT), others had no control group and utilised cross-sectional studies (Buchan et al, 2012). Due to these inconsistencies, there is a need for future studies to utilise the TTM to assess whether it is in fact applicable to physical activity behaviour change.

### 2.3 Understanding behaviour and behaviour change

In recent years, a more comprehensive approach to understanding individual behaviour change has been adopted, with the dual-process model of cognition and behaviour (Marteau, 2011). The dual-process model suggests that human behaviour is shaped by two systems. The first system is goal-orientated and is driven by individual's values, motivations and intentions. This system involves reflective, conscious and rational thoughts, requiring cognitive capacity – which is limited (Marteau, 2011). Traditional policies and interventions aimed at improving health behaviours have targeted this system by providing individuals with new information and different incentives in order to alter their beliefs and attitudes towards their behaviour, and therefore ultimately change their behaviour (Vlaev et al, 2016). However these approaches have been modestly effective in changing health behaviours (WHO, 2008),

they are also not cost effective and do not reach large amounts of the population (Wu et al, 2011).

In contrast, the second system involves unconscious, automatic and uncontrolled thoughts (Vlaev et al, 2016) and requires little or no cognitive engagement as its driven by our immediate feelings and can be triggered by the environment (Marteau, 2011). This dual process model helps to understand complex aspects of human behaviour such as why individuals behave in ways that are detrimental to their health, even though they are aware of the effects and may actually have good intentions to be healthy. For example, a person may be aware of the benefits of taking the stairs but may be running late and so may choose to use the lift as it is closer instead, to 'save time'. These environmental cues combined with immediate pleasures (e.g. getting somewhere faster) override more distant rewards (e.g. better physical health in the future from stair use) leading to individuals displaying unhealthy behaviours. Choice architecture and 'nudging' interventions, such as point-of-decision prompts (PODP's), act on this automatic, affective system by altering aspects of the social or physical environment in order to trigger individual's automatic thoughts to lead to an increase of healthy behaviours.

#### 2.4 Choice architecture and nudge interventions

The Nudge Theory, which has mainly been used within quantitative research, attempts to explore individual changes in behaviour by altering aspects of the environment. Because of its focus on individual behaviour and behavioural change, it is significant in this study where the researcher will explore using this approach as a qualitative method. The Nudge Theory proposes that individual behaviour can be altered by making subliminal changes to the environment e.g. by making stairs more attractive and accessible in buildings, than lifts, can unconsciously influence people to use the stairs more (Thaler & Sunstein, 2008). However, empirical evidence to support the claim that 'nudging' interventions are effective in changing behaviour and improving population health is limited and more research is needed to assess whether 'nudging' is successful in changing behaviours in the long-term (Marteau, 2011). It is suggested that the limited evidence to date was actually due to a lack of a clear definition of choice architecture interventions applicable to the public health field (Hollands et al, 2013). Hollands et al (2013) proposed a new definition;

'Interventions that involve altering the properties or placement of objects or stimuli within micro-environments with the intention of changing health-related behaviour. Such interventions are implemented within the same micro-environment as that in which the target behaviour is performed, typically require minimal conscious engagement, can in principle influence the behaviour of many people simultaneously, and are not targeted or tailored to specific individuals' (page 1220).

One way of 'nudging' individuals to more healthy behaviours is by altering the choice architecture. However, this has most commonly been applied to changing diet-related behaviour. One study made changes in a school canteen with the intention of encouraging adolescents to pick more healthy food items (fruit, sandwiches containing salad and freshly prepared vegetarian daily specials). This intervention involved putting labels, stickers and posters on and around the healthier food items. These stickers included smiley faces and lines such as "GOOD for YOU" and "Make a fresh choice" as a way of nudging people to choose these options. The results from this study revealed that there was a significant increase in the students selecting these healthier options during the intervention and also post-intervention (Ensaff et al, 2015). The intervention was only implemented for six weeks during the summer term and the follow up was only conducted three weeks after the intervention and so it is not known whether the intervention was effective in influencing healthier food choices in the long term.

Some other school-based interventions have altered the design or made adaptions to the physical environment in order to 'nudge' pupils to become more active, regardless of their demographic characteristics and motivation (Benden et al, 2011; Lanningham-Foster et al, 2008). As part of these interventions, traditional desks were replaced with standing desks to encourage activity and reduce sedentary behaviour. The results from these studies revealed that these interventions were effective in increasing calorie expenditure and reducing sedentary behaviour. However, these interventions have only been tested in primary school settings, thus future research is needed to explore whether they are effective with adolescents, in secondary school settings.

Another way of altering the choice architecture to 'nudge' individuals to certain behaviours is by using point-of-decision prompts (PODP's), these are placed near staircases, lifts and escalators. They are designed to motivate people to take the stairs and generally make more active choices by providing information e.g. 'taking the stairs burns more calories' (Soler et al, 2010). Other ways of encouraging people to use the stairs is by changing the aesthetics and making them look more appealing. Encouraging people to take the stairs more has health benefits, although perhaps only small ones, stair use is associated with improvements in cardiovascular fitness, cholesterol levels, bone mineral density, strokes (Sloan et al, 2013) and contributes to weight control (Boreham et al, 2000). Ayabe et al (2012) found that even short bouts of physical activity from 30 seconds to 5 minutes can improve levels of blood lipids. Therefore, although these health benefits are only small at individual level, at population level they can significant positive health outcomes.

A study in Berlin placed PODP's in three underground train stations. These posters had messages which aimed to encourage individuals to take the stairs. The results revealed that these posters were successful in significantly increasing stair use in women but not men (Muller-Riemenschneider et al, 2010). However, a similar study conducted in Japan found that placing stair-riser banners with messages such as 'Take the stairs', 'For the prevention of disease' increased stair use in both males and females (Nomura et al, 2009). A more recent study in Singapore also found that using colourful stair-riser PODP's in an underground train station were effective in increasing stair use by 48.5% (Sloan et al, 2013). Stair use dropped to slightly below baseline levels once the prompts were removed, showing that these PODP's are effective in increasing stair use, yet only when they were present suggesting that they perhaps do not have lasting effects on individual's behaviour.

A recent systematic review of the 'stair climbing' literature looked at interventions to increase stair use that were published between 1990 and 2015 (Jennings et al, 2017). This review found that the most effective interventions were the ones that used a combination of both text and images on their signs; used time and fitness-based messages and used stair banners when using a simple strategy. The findings from this review highlighted the importance of considering the intervention settings when choosing the strategies, materials and the content e.g. motivational messages, in order to produce the most effective intervention.

However, point-of-decision prompts have been criticised for primarily only influencing those individuals that are already active (Kerr et al, 2000). People not actually considering to change (pre-contemplators) were unlikely to even notice the posters and remained unmotivated (Kerr et al, 2000; Cohen, 2013). Eves et al (2012) suggests this is due to individual's only being exposed to prompts for a few seconds, and this brief exposure is not enough to alter beliefs, perceptions and behaviour. These types of studies on point-of-decision prompts have also been criticised for only looking at an immediate effect, in the

majority of studies either no follow up was conducted or only a follow up of a few weeks (Pillay et al, 2009; Boen et al, 2010; Bellicha et al, 2015). Future studies should identify whether these interventions are effective in the long term as individuals will only gain any health benefits if stair use is maintained (Van Hoecke et al, 2017).

The nudge theory does not aim to replace traditional behaviour change approaches but complement existing work. The idea of 'nudging' individuals to certain behaviours has been found to be effective as the environment is constantly shaping the way we act – yet usually to more unhealthy behaviours (Sallis et al, 2009). Policy makers should therefore be creating 'leptogenic' environments that encourage individuals to make choices that are beneficial rather than detrimental to their health (Vlaev et al, 2016). It has been suggested that population approaches, such as nudging interventions, may be effective in reducing health inequalities (Capewell et al, 2010). Individual level approaches, such as health education programmes are generally unavailable for those individuals with lower incomes, lower education levels and there may also be language barriers (Swinburn et al, 1999). These 'nudging' approaches may also be more cost-effective than traditional approaches and lead to maintained changes in behaviour as they become integrated into policies, systems and sociocultural norms (Swinburn et al, 1999).

However, The Nudge Theory has been criticised for taking away individual freedom of choice. According to some researchers, under a nudge scheme individuals are not able to make their own choice, but are 'nudged' in to making the 'right choice' (Bradbury et al, 2013; Brown, 2012). The desired behavioural choice depends on the choice architect's personal opinion as to what is 'the right choice', which may be subject to personal bias and motivations (Baldwin et al, 2011). A further criticism is that many nudging interventions, to date, have been added to existing government strategies and because of this researchers and policy makers are unable to distinguish whether nudging is more effective than current government strategies or whether nudging only works alongside other strategies (Kosters & Heijden, 2015). Additionally, the effectiveness of nudge interventions appears to be highly context dependent (Willis, 2013; Michie & West, 2013). Thaler (2012) agrees with this point in that nudges that work in one setting, with one group of people, may not work in a different setting with different groups. This point highlights the need for more research to be carried out in different contexts to establish the effectiveness of nudging interventions.

### 2.5 Using natural experiments in health research

Most studies in the field of physical activity and the environment have used cross-sectional designs; this research only assesses association and therefore does not provide evidence of a causal relationship between physical activity and the built environment (Bauman et al, 2012). Experimental studies such as randomised controlled trials (RCT) are seen as producing 'the best available evidence' when it comes to testing drug treatments. However, in many public health settings, such as aiming to increase physical activity, this is not the case as they can be difficult to achieve (Petticrew et al, 2005). The use of cross-sectional studies with regards to physical activity, brings about many issues such as self-selection bias, this is when individuals who like to walk choose to live in a 'walkable' neighbourhood (Glanz et al, 2015).

To combat such issues, researchers in this field are now beginning to use natural experiments to identify causal relationships between the built environment and physical activity (Veitch et al, 2012). It is suggested that natural experiments may produce the best available public health evidence to tackle the issue of physical inactivity. Natural experiments are defined as *'observational studies that resemble true experiments but lack random assignment of participants to intervention groups'* (Benton et al, 2016, p.2). The researcher usually cannot manipulate the intervention as it is naturally occurring or unplanned (Craig et al, 2012). Natural experiments lead to stronger inferences about causality than cross-sectional studies and therefore they may be a more appropriate design to use within health research.

To date, the findings from natural experiments on the built environment and physical activity have provided inconsistent results. Veitch et al (2012) found that park use and the number of people walking significantly increased after the park underwent major improvements, including playgrounds, picnic areas and areas for dogs. In line with this, Cohen et al (2012) found that following the installation of outdoor family gyms in 12 parks, park use increased by 11%, compared to the control parks. However, five studies carried out from 2009-2014 showed no significant impact on park use and physical activity following interventions that involved changes to the built environment only (Cohen et al, 2009; West & Shores, 2011; Cohen et al, 2012; Bohn-Goldhaum et al, 2013; Cohen et al, 2014). One study found that in parks that underwent improvements (e.g. playgrounds and picnic areas), park use and physical activity levels declined (Cohen et al, 2009). However, it was suggested that this could have been a result of reduced programming and fewer scheduled organised activities

due to budget cuts to the Department of Recreation and Parks, and perhaps not a true representation of the effectiveness of the park intervention.

A recent systematic review by Mayne et al (2015) found that natural experiments support the findings from traditional study methods in that living near parks and recreational facilities increased physical activity. This review also confirmed from natural experiments that people use public transport, and other forms of active transport (walking, cycling) when it was made accessible to them, as identified from cross-sectional studies (Mayne et al, 2015). Similarly, other reviews into this area have found that natural experiments confirm evidence from cross-sectional studies with regards to the built environment and physical activity (McCormack & Shiell, 2011; Hunter et al, 2015).

The review by Hunter et al (2015) found that interventions were more effective when they combined environmental changes with physical activity programmes. One study found that cycling significantly increased as a result of a newly constructed trail, as well as promotion of the campaign in the media (newspapers, local radio) and leaflets distributed to schools and workplaces (Merom et al, 2003). Tester and Baker (2009) found that by making improvements to playing fields, combined with providing park and recreation staff with training and skills development, it significantly increased park usage and overall physical activity. However, none of these studies took into account the effect of the social environment on physical activity. Future research within this topic should take this into account as social support, for example, has been found to play an important role in whether interventions to increase physical activity have been effective (Broyles et al, 2011).

The use of natural experiments within this topic area provide advantages over cross-sectional studies as they provide evidence of causality and 'real-world' efficacy (Mayne et al, 2015). However, natural experiments are not without limitations. Benton et al (2016) assessed the risk of bias in natural experiments and found that all studies included in the review had an overall critical or serious risk of bias. These findings highlight the need for researchers to conduct better natural experiments on how the built environment influences physical activity. Suggestions for how natural experiments can be improved in the future included; better reporting of samples and interventions, sample size calculations and measuring exposure to the intervention at the individual level (Benton et al, 2016; Hunter et al, 2015).

It is also important to note that many of these studies have been conducted in the US. This is an issue as there are variations in climate, population density, obesity rates and physical activity patterns between the US and Europe (Benton et al, 2016). Therefore, whilst natural experiments offer higher external validity compared to cross-sectional studies, more natural experiments need to be conducted in the UK to establish how the environment impacts upon physical activity.

Additionally, many of the natural experiments included in this section have been measured by using quantitative research methods. It has been suggested that gaining information about intermediate variables, such as psychosocial influences, may provide researchers with a better understanding of how the built environment influences physical activity (Hunter et al, 2015). Within quantitative research complex issues such as physical activity behaviour and 'real life' problems are simply reduced down to a limited number of variables, it may not take into account other variables which may play a role and may not have been thought of by the researcher (Eysenck, 2004). Therefore, when conducting natural experiments, researchers should employ qualitative data collection methods in order to assess the effectiveness of the interventions and to gain a deeper understanding as to *why* and *how* the built environment influences physical activity (Mahoney, 2001).

#### 2.6 A qualitative perspective

As discussed, the majority of previous research conducted into the area of physical activity and the environment has been heavily based on using quantitative research methods (McCormack et al, 2004). Whilst this is useful, Eyre et al (2015) comments on the need for qualitative research into this area in order to develop an understanding of individuals lived experiences, and their interactions with the environment, with regards to physical activity. Using qualitative methods is useful as the researcher can gain a deeper and more meaningful insight into how the built environment and socio-economic influences can impact upon individual's physical activity participation. However, to date there is limited qualitative research into this topic and particularly, on individual's perceptions about physical activity interventions. This research is needed to lead to the design of effective interventions to increase physical activity (Leischow et al, 2008).

One study in the UK explored residents' and community leaders' perceptions of physical activity interventions and issues regarding their implementations (Cleland et al, 2014). The physical activity interventions and programmes included; 'one-off' walking and cycling events, indoor activities, organised local walking groups and leisure-centre based schemes for children. Data collection methods were semi-structured individual interviews and focus

groups. The findings from this study suggest that a) individuals will fail to engage with physical activity which they perceive as irrelevant to them; b) members of the community should be involved in the planning of interventions, and c) it's important to target the 'right people' and ensure interventions address people's needs. This study also explored barriers people face which affects the successfulness of physical activity interventions. One barrier that was identified was apathy, which was linked to poor self-esteem. It was suggested that specific programmes are needed to support the development of personal skills and self-esteem. Respondents within this study stated how facilities are needed within their local area in order to promote long term participation in physical activity. This study is valuable as its focus was on informing the development of successful interventions to tackle physical inactivity, which is sparse, rather than adding to the existing literature on personal barriers and facilitators to physical activity.

Recent qualitative studies have attempted to understand how changing the PE environment may increase girl's physical activity levels and enjoyment of school based PE (Mitchell et al, 2015; Enright & O'Sullivan, 2010; Fisette, 2011). A recent study, in Scotland, explored whether a physical activity intervention programme 'Fit for Girls' was effective in increasing the enjoyment and participation in PE of 'disengaged girls', aged 15/16 years old (Mitchell et al, 2015). As part of this intervention, PE staff and Active School co-ordinators were given training in order to facilitate and support them to make sustainable changes to the way PE is delivered in schools. One change the school made to the PE curriculum was consulting with the girls and giving them choice as to what physical activities they would like to do. Following the consultations, the girls chose activities such as fitness-based activities, dancebased and indoor games e.g. dodge-ball, as oppose to traditional forms of PE which were previously being offered such as netball and hockey. The students were also given a choice as to which activities they took part in each lesson, this lead to single-sex classes and friends choosing the same activities as each other. As a result of this intervention, the girls commented on how they valued being able to make decisions and being listened to. The girls also expressed how they liked having the freedom to choose the activity and who they would work with. Being able to participate in single-sex classes increased the girls' participation. This intervention led to the girls feeling more confident and comfortable; increased their enjoyment; improved relationships with PE teachers, and, ultimately increased their participation. These findings support that of previous research which has also found how giving adolescent girls' empowerment with regards to PE lessons increases their confidence

and enjoyment, and therefore their participation (Enright & O'Sullivan, 2010; Fisette, 2011; Brooks & Magnusson, 2006). These studies provide an insight into *how* and *why* the school environment facilitates or hinders girl's engagement in PA. This highlights the need for indepth, qualitative studies which reflects detailed and meaningful accounts of adolescent girl's experiences in PE.

# Chapter 3: Aims of the study

To date, there has been limited research carried out, in the UK, on the effectiveness of 'nudge' interventions on influencing physical activity. There is also a need for more studies that explore the effectiveness of physical activity interventions from a qualitative perspective, as much of the research to date has utilised quantitative methods. Additionally, as the existing research on natural experiments has provided inconsistent results, there is a need for further research to establish whether altering aspects of the environment is an effective way of increasing physical activity. Due to these gaps in the literature and limitations of existing research outlined within the literature review, the aim of this study was to explore the beliefs and perceptions of a school community towards physical activity and the impact of prompts on these beliefs and perceptions.

Beliefs refer to thoughts and assumptions that an individual or group trusts to be true. Strength of the belief may influence the attitudes towards the stimuli involved (Emmanuel & Delaney, 2014). Within this study, existing physical activity beliefs of students and their teachers were explored before prompts were placed around the school, and then again after the prompts had been in place. The purpose of this was to see if the prompts had impacted upon their existing physical activity beliefs. Perceptions are when an individual is confronted with a situation/stimuli, and interprets the stimuli into something meaningful to him/her based on prior experiences. A person's awareness and acceptance of the stimuli plays an important role in the perception process – receptiveness to the stimuli may be limited by an individual's existing beliefs, attitudes, motivations and personality (Assael, 1995). For example, within this study it will be explored how members of the school taking part in the study react, or not, to the stimuli (prompts) based upon their prior experience or beliefs surrounding physical activity. Physical activity beliefs and perceptions explored, with the use of both quantitative and qualitative methods, within this study included; self-efficacy, decisional balance, perceived barriers and motivators and positive and negative attitudes towards physical activity.

# **Chapter 4: Methodology and Methods**

# 4.1 Philosophical influences

Philosophic realism in general is defined as *'the view that entities exist independently of being perceived, or independently of our theories about them*' (Phillips, 1987, p.205). This research is underpinned by a 'subtle realist' philosophical stance. This position accepts that the data in social research can never be free from the researcher's own perspective, as researchers cannot escape the social world to examine it (Hammersley & Atkinson, 1995). Therefore, subtle realists assume that we can only know reality from our own perspective of it. The subtle realist perspective retains a belief in phenomena that are independent of the researcher and knowable through the research process, unlike radical relativist approaches such as social constructionism, that deny that there is any other reality other than their own construction of it (Maxwell, 2012). The subtle realist approach therefore accepts that other perspectives on the phenomenon are possible and all research involves subjective perceptions and observations, meaning different methods will produce different representations of the participants (Duncan & Nicol, 2004). This position also acknowledges that people have different views and it is possible to gain different yet equally valid descriptions of the same phenomenon, this reflects the complex nature of social reality (Snape & Spencer, 2003).

The researcher has adapted this position as it is compatible with the idea of combining both quantitative and qualitative research methods in order to address the complex multiple realities of a research question (Hammersley, 1992). Researchers such as Silverman (1993) and Miller and Crabtree (2000) have criticised the idea of the two methods as conflicting and are encouraging the use of mixed methodologies within health research to ensure that the best possible findings emerge from the research. Additionally, this type of research is usually conducted in more natural settings and the researcher will aim to collect more contextual or situational data (Hammersley & Atkinson 2007). Although, subtle realists are aware that they can't claim to have absolute certainty, their aim within research is to *'search for knowledge about which we can be reasonably confident'* (Murphy et al, 1998, p.69).

## 4.2 A mixed methods approach

As the study is exploring beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity with the use of prompts, the researcher thought it would be valuable to use a variety of research methods to gain the best possible insight into the topic. Therefore, this study utilised a mixed methods approach, which involves the collection and analysis of both quantitative and qualitative data (Creswell et al, 2003). The use of mixed methods is particularly useful in health research as stakeholders; practitioners etc. need to be provided with sufficient evidence as to whether an intervention is effective in reducing unhealthy behaviours and/or increasing more healthy behaviours, before they implement these interventions into practice or new policies.

The use of quantitative research methods provides the objective, statistical evidence as to whether an intervention is effective. Questionnaires are a useful method of data collection as they are quick and relatively easy to distribute, therefore they can be used to reach large amounts of the population to generate lots of data (Denscombe, 2007). However, participants are limited to a certain amount of answers and there is often no option for participants to expand on how they really feel about the issue. Therefore, qualitative methods, such as interviews, are useful as they allow the researcher to gain a deeper insight into the individual's opinions, thoughts, feelings and experiences surrounding the particular topic. Therefore, enabling the researcher to understand the issue from a more personal and subjective perspective (Lakshman et al, 2000). Therefore, a mixed methods approach was used in this study in order to enhance the credibility of the findings and to gain a fuller understanding of whether environmental prompts are an effective way of increasing physical activity.

# <u>4.3 Design</u>

The study used a concurrent triangulation design (Creswell et al, 2003). This type of mixed methods design involves collecting both quantitative and qualitative data at the same time during the research process and then analysing the data from the two types of methods independently, using the traditional techniques associated with each data type (Creswell & Plano Clark, 2011). The researcher used this design *"to obtain different but complementary data on the same topic"* (Morse, 1991, p.122) to best understand the research problem.

This study was a natural experiment and involved placing prompts (wall stickers) around a school where they were clearly visible, such as on walls, doors and staircases. The first phase

(subliminal) included a picture of someone sat watching TV with text saying '*All night*?' The purpose of this was to get participants thinking about the amount of time they spend on sedentary activities. The second phase (call to action) included a picture of someone walking away from the TV with the text '*Ad break, TV break*'. The purpose of this phase was to get participants thinking about being more physically active and how this could be incorporated into their daily lives. See below for images of these prompts and refer to Appendix 1 for more examples of prompts used in the intervention.



Image 1: Phase 1 prompt



Image 2: Phase 2 prompt

The first stage of the research was to collect pre-intervention (before prompts) data to identify existing physical activity beliefs, perceptions and behaviours. Following this, the first phase of prompts (subliminal phase) were placed around the school for 10 weeks. These were then replaced with the second phase of prompts (call to action phase), which were left around the school for six weeks. The final stages of data collection were then carried out (post-intervention) to identify whether the prompts had an impact on the participant's physical activity beliefs and perceptions.

#### <u>4.4 Setting</u>

The study took place in a secondary school in the North West of England. The school is located in an area where the total deprivation is very high in all areas including income deprivation, employment, health, education, crime, living environment and barriers to housing and services (Department for Communities and Local Government, 2015). This school was selected for the study as research indicates that socio-economic status has a great influence on physical activity participation.

## 4.5 Recruitment, sampling and participants

A number of schools, in areas of socio-economic deprivation, were contacted to see if they would be involved in the research, and this school came forward to take part. Participants were year 11 students (15/16 year olds) and teachers (all aged 30 or above) from the secondary school. The teachers were recruited on a volunteer basis, an email was sent to all individuals who worked within the school. The email asked if they would be willing to participate in two focus groups, and as an incentive they would receive a £10 voucher. It was also stated that participants should be inactive. Those who responded were included in the focus groups and were sent a participant information sheet (see Appendix 2) and consent form (Appendix 3). With regards to the students, 15/16 year old girls were selected to participate in the focus groups as physical activity levels in adolescent girls declines more significantly, than in boys. The students for the focus groups were also selected on a volunteer basis. A teacher at the school asked a number of year 11 girls to participate (also stated they should be inactive), and the ones who responded were sent the same information sheet and consent form as the teachers. Questionnaires were handed out to all staff working within in the school and all year 11 students; these were then completed if the participant was happy to take part in the study.

#### 4.6 Qualitative data collection methods

Focus groups were conducted pre-intervention (before the prompts were placed around the school) and post-intervention (a few weeks after both phases of the prompts had been in place). One focus group consisted of seven members of staff (five females and 2 males) and the other focus group consisted of eight year 11 students (all females). The pre-intervention focus groups looked at existing physical activity beliefs, perceptions and behaviours. The post-intervention focus groups were used to explore the impact of a variety of subliminal, environmental prompts on physical activity beliefs and perceptions.

Focus groups were judged as the most appropriate method for qualitative data collection in this study as the researcher wanted to gain collective views and opinions on the topic of interest rather than exploring in-depth individual experiences, in which case individual interviews would have been more appropriate (Gill et al, 2008). Focus groups were also used as opposed to individual interviews as the interactions and communications between participants during the focus groups could perhaps bring about new discussions and ideas that are of use to the research question but had not been pre-determined by the researcher (Forrester, 2010).

Due to the study being conducted in a school, and the staff having demanding workloads, it was easier to organise one focus group, during the lunch hour or after school, rather than having to organise many individual interviews at different times. The interview schedule for the focus group consisted of a few pre-determined, open-ended questions that were relevant to the research question (see Appendix 4 for interview schedule). The researcher had to remain neutral and avoid giving personal opinions throughout the focus group to ensure the participant's answers were not influenced in any way (Krueger & Casey, 2014).

#### 4.7 Quantitative data collection methods

The questionnaires were administered to 85 members of staff and 87 year 11 students (15/16 year olds) both pre and post intervention. Participants were given The Stages of Change Instrument (Nigg & Riebe, 2002). The answers provided were used to identify which stage of The Transtheoretical Model each participant was in before and after the prompts were placed around the school. This is a well validated scale which has been recommended as a suitable measure by researchers in this field (Burbank et al, 2002; Greaney et al 2008).

Participants were also given the Barrier Self-Efficacy Questionnaire (Nigg et al, 2001). This measure has been reported as having a high internal reliability estimate of Cronbach alpha ( $\alpha$ ) = .85 (Paxton et al, 2008). Participants were also given a revised form (Paxton et al, 2008) of the Decisional Balance questionnaire originally developed by Nigg and Courneya (1998). This questionnaire was reported to have good internal consistency (Cronbach's  $\alpha$  = .83 (pros) and .71 (cons)).

Within the questionnaire, questions measured positive and negative attitudes towards physical activity by using six statements regarding their positive attitudes (Motl et al, 2000) and eight statements regarding their negative attitudes (Nelson et al, 2010). This questionnaire has been reported to have high concurrent validity and also demonstrated high internal reliability of  $\alpha$ =.82 (Nelson et al, 2010).

The final part of the questionnaire used The Processes of Change Questionnaire (Nigg et al, 2001). This questionnaire has been reported to have moderate to high reliability estimates ranging from  $\alpha$ = .72 to .88 for experiential processes and  $\alpha$ = .76 to .85 for the behavioural processes (Paxton et al, 2008). Please see Appendix 5 for full version of the questionnaire.

These questionnaires measured self-efficacy, decisional balance, processes of change and overall positive and negative attitudes to physical activity to gain an understanding of the physical activity beliefs and perceptions of the students and teachers in this school, before and after the prompts were placed. However, only 31 people completed the pre-intervention questionnaires and 10 people completed the post-intervention. One reason for this low response rate could be due to the length of the questionnaires. The setting of the study could also have played a role as the teachers and students at this school were busy with many things including OFSTED inspections and preparing for GCSE exams. Additionally, there were problems with identifying who had completed each questionnaire. As students were under 16 years old, they were asked to provide a false name (as advised by The School Research Ethics Panel), for anonymity, and many of them had forgotten what false name they had previously used as there was a long gap (six months) between them completing each one.

#### 4.8 Data analysis

Due to the low response rate of questionnaires (31 pre-intervention questionnaires and 10 post-intervention questionnaires returned), the researcher was unable to run a statistical analysis to compare differences in individual responses before and after the prompts were placed around the school. Descriptive statistics (means and standard deviations) from the pre-intervention questionnaires were calculated, to see if there were any differences in responses between males and females. For example, to see whether males or females scored higher on the self-efficacy and decisional balance questionnaire. The researcher was unable to calculate the descriptive statistics from the post-intervention questionnaires as only 10 were completed.

All of the focus groups were audio recorded and transcribed verbatim. The data was then analysed using a form of thematic analysis; template analysis (King, 2004). This approach involves organising themes that are identified in the data into hierarchical clusters. Broad themes are sub-divided into several levels of more specific themes. Four templates were created; two for the pre-intervention focus groups and two for the post-intervention focus groups as the teachers and students data were analysed separately. Development of the templates allowed the researcher to look at patterns across the data. Template analysis can involve the use of *a priori* themes, which are identified prior to the analysis and are based on previous literature. These *a priori* themes are not fixed and can be modified during the analysis.

It is important to note that the role of the researcher could have influenced participant's answers as this was the first time the researcher had conducted focus groups. When transcribing and analysing the data from the focus groups there were times when the participants went slightly off subject and the researcher could have done more to bring them back to the desired subject, for example when the teaching staff went on to discussing the students physical activity beliefs and behaviours instead of their own. The researcher could have also prompted them more and asked additional questions as it was clear when analysing the data there were times when more information was needed.

#### <u>4.9 Ethics</u>

As it was a school setting, the study was approved by the School of Human and Health Sciences Research Ethics Panel before any of the participants were approached. An information sheet and consent form (Appendices 2 & 3) was given to each participant prior to the research being carried out, which included a contact email address in case anyone had further questions regarding the study. Participants were made aware that they could withdraw themselves from the study at any time and their data up until a certain date. Participants were also made aware that pseudo names would be used within the report in order to maintain their anonymity. No other personal details were taken which could lead to participants being identified. It was established that parental consent was not needed as the students were only responding to visual prompts placed around the school, therefore the school consent and student consent (as aged 15+) was sufficient. As the study took place with under 16 year olds, the researcher was required to get a DBS check before the research could be carried out.

# **Chapter 5: Findings**

### 5.1 Quantitative analysis

Tables 1 and 2 below provide descriptive data on the pre-intervention questionnaires. Decisional balance scores greater than 0 show that respondent's report more benefits than barriers to being active. A score less than 0 shows that respondent's report more barriers than benefits to being active. As can be seen from the table, males scored higher than females on the decisional balance and positive attitudes towards physical activity questionnaires, showing that they reported more benefits than barriers of being physically active. Males also scored higher, than females, on the processes of change questionnaire. Additionally, females scored higher, than males, on the negative attitudes towards physical activity questionnaire. With regards to self-efficacy, most respondent's rated themselves within an average range on the scale (possible range of scores was between 6 and 30), with the females (M=16.62) scoring slightly higher than males (M=15.5). The questionnaires were obtained from both staff and students. However, only 1 male member of staff and 3 female members of staff completed the questionnaires, and so the researcher was unable to see whether different results emerged from the questionnaires between staff and students.

Variable	Mean	SD	Range
Self-efficacy	16.62	6.22	6-30
Decisional balance	-0.2	1.37	-4-4
Positive attitudes	19.76	5.89	6-30
Negative attitudes	24.86	10.13	8-40
Processes of change	2.14	0.8	1-5

 Table 1. Female mean scores and standard deviations from the pre-intervention

 questionnaires (N=21)

# Table 2. Male mean scores and standard deviations from the pre-intervention questionnaires (N=10)

Variable	Mean	SD	Range
Self-efficacy	15.5	4.45	6-30
Decisional balance	1.14	1.09	-4-4
Positive attitudes	23.4	2.46	6-30
Negative attitudes	19	8.37	8-40
Processes of change	2.84	0.5	1-5

The pre-intervention stages of change questionnaire identified that 9 females and 2 males were in the pre-contemplation stage of the TTM. 7 females and 8 males were in the maintenance stage and 4 females and 1 male were in the action stage of the TTM.

There was a low response for the quantitative data with 31 completed pre-intervention questionnaires and only 10 completed post-intervention questionnaires. With such a low response rate, the researcher was unable to run a statistical analysis to see if individual responses changed post-intervention (after the prompts had been in place). Possible reasons for the low response rate could be due to time constraints of students and teachers and

perhaps a questionnaire was not the most appropriate for this setting. This suggests the unreliability of data collected using questionnaires in a small-scale study with this particular age group, in this setting. It highlights the importance of a qualitative approach which reflects more accurately beliefs and perceptions of the participants in this study.

# 5.2 Qualitative analysis

# Pre-intervention - Staff

The focus groups were conducted before the prompts were placed around the school, and then again six months after the prompts had been in place. The focus groups with the teaching staff consisted of 5 females and 2 males, all aged 30 years old or above. The data was transcribed and analysed using Template Analysis. The aim of the pre-interventions focus groups was to explore the teachers existing beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity, and to gain an insight into their existing physical activity behaviours. The main themes that were identified from the pre-intervention focus groups with the teaching staff were; physical ailments, the daily struggle and time constraints, self-efficacy and self-belief and facilitators of physical activity. See below for the final template of themes that were identified within the pre-intervention focus group with the teachers.

#### 1. Physical ailments

- 1.1 Discomfort
- 1.2 Aggravating condition
- 1.3 Acknowledge that PA would improve condition

### 2. The Daily Struggle and time constraints

2.1 Mood is low

2.2 People only have so much willpower (which they use in daily life...so exercise needs to be sold as not a chore)

- 2.3 Life is all filled with responsibilities (children, cleaning, chores)
- 2.4 Demanding workload as teachers
  - 2.4.1 Tiredness after work/lethargy
  - 2.4.2 The need to relax and switch off after work (exercise not associated with switching off)
  - 2.4.3 Associating identity as apathetic/lazy the 'laziness factor'
- 2.5 Personal time limited and physical activity seen as low priority in life

### 3. Self-efficacy and self-belief

3.1 What is the point? Will I see a result?

3.2 People do what they enjoy....you can't enjoy something you don't think you are good at...or that you are not sure you can do

- 3.3 Low self-efficacy and self-belief to overcome negative health habits
  - 3.3.1 Difficult for positive health habits to stick

### 4. Facilitators of physical activity

4.1 Social/community aspects

4.2 Neighbourhood/local aesthetics

Figure 1: Final template of themes from the adult pre-intervention focus group

# Physical ailments

One of the main themes identified that were preventing the adults being physically active were physical ailments. Half of the teachers in the focus group had a condition or injury which prevented them from being active due to pain during activity, or afterwards;

'I don't exercise very much these days because I've got a really bad back that's that bad it's inoperable. So if I do anything that's intensive that enables me to lose weight I can't do it because I'm in pain. I can't walk the next day.'

'I've injured my back so I'm undergoing physio'

Another participant commented on how joint pain prevents her from being active in daily life due to discomfort;

'Because my knees are bad I can't walk that far anyway, or do that much so it does impact on my school life, the stairs that we have. Sometimes I'll stay in my lab thinking 'I'm not walking down two flights of stairs just to get this, I'll wait'...it makes me quite sad as well, I'd like to be able to walk and do all this but physically I can't do it until the bones of my knees have got fixed.'

On the other hand, for some participants their condition was a motivator to participate in physical activity;

'I have rheumatoid arthritis and I've had that since I was diagnosed when I was twenty-six... so I do Pilates regularly... basically if your muscles are stronger around the joints it helps protect the joints which was the first piece of advice I was given when I was diagnosed... I was much more sedentary in my twenties until I got diagnosed and then had to start picking some things up and losing weight'

### The daily struggle and time constraints

Another important theme that was identified as a barrier to physical activity for these teachers was their 'daily struggle'. It is evident from the data that these participants daily lives are filled with many different responsibilities such as their job, having children, household chores etc. The participants all expressed how teaching can be very demanding and they all have busy workloads;

'Permanently switched on...which is why alcohol plays a big part for teachers particularly... because it's like being on stage. It's a performance, teaching is like being on stage for five hours'

'Five hours and you're bang bang bang, next kids come in... bang bang bang, end of the day'

The teachers only get a thirty minute lunch break and this acted as a barrier for them to participate in any physical activity. One teacher commented on how she has to eat at her desk as well as running a club due to time constraints;

'It's work and eat. I eat at my desk ... run a club and eat.'

Another teacher acknowledges how she could use the gym available at the school during lunch but she would rather get her work done so that she has more 'free time' for herself after work;

'I do think, because they've got a multi gym here...maybe I could spend half an hour in the gym here and then a quick shower and lunch, but then I just thought 'hold on... if you go bang bang through the day, you finish early you've got that time at the end of the day' It was clear from the focus group that these teachers described being physically and mentally drained at the end of the school day and so when they get home they want to relax and take their mind away from work. As mentioned earlier, individuals often associate taking part in physical activity as too tiring, hard work and perhaps see it as an 'extra chore' that they have to do after work. This was also evident in this study:

'And sometimes you miss that moment of exercise, you get home, I want to exercise but I just need to do this, need to do that'

'When you were saying about the stress release what I've noticed is when you come home you're tired, you're knackered, you've been marking you're stressed out, the easiest option is to sit, chill, relax, do nothing, Netflix, and that's the easiest thing and it makes you feel that instant good, but what I've found is if you force yourself out the door you get the exercise and you feel so much better... it's that battle of just getting out that door'

'I find it a huge effort to get my backside out the door'

The teachers in this focus group also had parental responsibilities, they have to get their children ready for school and take them before getting to work themselves. Some of them also have to take their children to clubs after school;

'I mean I guess I could cycle but I'm a single mum so it's in a morning getting my daughter to school and then getting here'

'A lot of the things that I do, she dances (daughter) for like 8 hours a week so a lot of it is me taking her to places and then watching her dancing'

'I get my daughter to bed which is now getting later and by the time she's gone to bed I do, I want to sit on the sofa, I want to watch something that takes my mind away completely from anything to do with work...trying to find myself the energy at that point to do – and that's what I was finding, I couldn't make myself do anything in the evening because I was just too tired' (single parent).

'When I'm at home with the three children I find that much more tiring'

As the teachers lives were filled with many responsibilities both at home and in work, this acted as a barrier to taking part in regular physical activity. Personal time was an issue so exercising/taking part in physical activity was often a low priority. However, for one person the fact that his children participate in clubs meant that he was more active;

'I probably do more now that we've got children because they've got after school clubs, football, cricket, so I find myself getting involved in that a bit as well'

Feeling tired/lethargic after work and the need to relax emerged as common reasons for why these teachers do not engage in regular physical activity after work. One reported;

'I drive to work, I'm lazy, I only live a mile away so I should walk'

Another teacher said;

'Now what I find is it's time and energy, I've either got time and no energy or I've got energy and no time.'

One participant also mentioned that she lives within walking distance of a new leisure centre but is 'too lazy' to use it. In this focus group the participants admit that they could make more active choices but they don't actually want to and use the fact that they have limited time and energy as a reason for not doing so. Other common reasons for not being physically active that emerged from the data were tiredness after work and the need to switch off. As mentioned earlier, individuals often do not associate physical activity with 'switching off' and 'unwinding' from their day at work and tend to take part in sedentary activities such as watching TV as a way to relax after work;

'Yes it's nice to watch some mindless TV and not have to think about anything, do what you want'.

## Self-efficacy and self-belief

Another theme that emerged from the data was self-efficacy and self-belief to being physically active. One teacher in this study expressed how she is not able to take part in high-intensity physical activity that could enable her to lose any weight and therefore she did not see the point;

'I would like to but I can't. Well I can to a certain degree but not enough that will enable me to lose enough weight'

'I can't do the intensity to lose any weight.

Although in the first focus group the teachers reported being aware of the benefits of physical activity, they acknowledged they had 'negative health habits'/routines such as drinking alcohol and watching TV. These were seen as coping strategies for managing their professional and home life. Their managing strategies acted as a barrier to having the self-

belief and motivation to increase physical activity and improve their health. For example one teacher said;

'It consists of pretty much sitting on the sofa watching TV or going out shopping. I don't walk anywhere, I drive everywhere and that's about it really'

Another teacher commented;

'*Make tea, tidy around, bottle of wine, feet up in front of the telly*'. Whilst another explained her change in behaviour at the weekends when the pressure of school work is less;

'The weekend is when I do the drinking... I don't drink in the week but I do catch up with it at the weekend which is bad but that's the pattern because you can... you let yourself do it. Friday, Saturday, bad food, bad drink.'

Again, the teachers overwhelmingly reported being aware of the link between physical activity and healthy eating to their overall health, yet many explained the difficulty they experienced in actually continuing a healthy lifestyle. Their awareness did not translate into self-efficacy and self-belief to become physically active. For example, one teacher said;

'I have bad eating habits as well so I'm in a constant flux of exercise, injury, bad eating, doing a bit, so I probably exercise on a good week about four times a week, on a bad week zero times a week'.

Another teacher said;

'Slowly bad habits creep back in and I've probably put another twenty kilos back on'

'I'll go and do a two mile run and come back going "Awesome, can't wait to do it tomorrow night" but five minute before tomorrow night, stay in, bottle of wine, eat chocolate, so it's that getting out of the door'

Although the teachers were in the same physical school environment as the students their comments were more about the adult pressures of managing home and work and this impact on their health, whereas the students commented more on how the whole school environment acted as a barrier to physical activity. Unlike the students, the teachers were more aware and more able to discuss how their beliefs and behaviour acted on their health. However, similar to the students, this did not encourage them to increase their physical activity.

## Facilitators of physical activity

While generally throughout the focus group, more barriers to physical activity were reported than facilitators, the teachers did make comments as to what does motivate them to participate in physical activity. Similar to the students, one teacher commented on the social aspect to physical activity, and how that motivated him;

'My mate has just started getting fit and doing exercise at the gym...he helped me with the gym a bit and then park runs...I joined that to get fit and met such a good group of people... it was a community thing which is brilliant and I never looked back.'

Another teacher commented on how having nice places to walk in their local area acted as a motivator to be active;

'I try and walk everywhere around the village and stuff, and then I try and walk as well on weekends because we've got some nice walks around where we live, so I do purposely try and get out.'

## <u> Post-intervention – Staff</u>

Six months after the first focus group and after the prompt-intervention, the teachers were invited to participate in a second focus group. The purpose of the post-intervention focus groups was to explore whether environmental prompts (nudges) had an influence on the teachers beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity. The main themes that were identified from the post-intervention focus groups with the staff were nudging to increasing awareness, teacher response to the prompts and teacher insights into students engagement with physical activity. See below for final template of these themes.

#### 1. Nudging to increase awareness

- 1.1 Prompts act as reminders for those already active or contemplating
  - 1.1.2 Making individuals more aware of incorporating physical activity into daily life
- 1.2 There is a need for additional interventions to change behaviour

#### 2. Teacher response to the prompts

- 2.1 Uncertain of the purpose/message of the prompts
- 2.2 Prompts age inappropriate teachers thought they were for students only
- 2.3 Suggestions made for improvement of prompts
  - 2.3.1 Categorise posters into fear or motivational
  - 2.3.2 Make prompts age specific target audience important when designing prompts
  - 2.3.3 Make health benefits of PA clear

#### 3. Teacher insights into student engagement with PA

- 3.1 Suggests it's easier to discuss PA and health as an issue rather than discuss own health
- 3.2 Students spend too long on sedentary activities
  - 3.2.1 Technology culture being reinforced by their parents
  - 3.2.2 Acknowledgement that media can have a positive effect on PA
- 3.3 Students disengaged with PA
  - 3.3.1 PA seen as a chore/punishment
  - 3.3.2 Attitudes towards PA need changing
  - 3.3.3 Prompts alone are not enough to change attitudes
- 3.4 Emphasis with PA needs to be based on praise
- 3.5 Students need to be made aware of different ways to be active
- 3.6 Economic factors need to be addressed (cost of taking part in some PA is high)

Figure 2: Final template of themes from the adult post-intervention focus group

#### Nudging to increase awareness

One finding that emerged from the data was that the prompts were effective in increasing awareness about physical activity. For one individual the prompts were effective as they made her more aware of being active and made her think about small changes she could make in her daily life to become more physically active;

'I'm trying to be a bit more aware of how much I'm walking and kind of thinking...instead of taking the car to go to the cash machine, I walked to the cash machine and back, little things like that that have definitely helped...making the most of the time I've got'

'It does make you think about things definitely, as you're walking around you look and think oh actually instead of checking Facebook at an advert break... I actually at that point could, even just tidying that stuff up now, I'm trying to break it up, making sure there's a bit more activity so you're not sat for too long, it's made me think about making the most out of the time that I've got.' 'I'm a single mum, and you find yourself constrained with all the things that you're doing there, and the thing that it did make me think about... little things you can add in that don't necessarily take away the precious time that you've got but make the most of the time that you have, it just makes me a little bit more aware I guess.'

Here this teacher repeatedly mentions how the prompts made her aware of making the most out of the time she has and so she tries to fit activity in wherever she can. The prompts acted to nudge this busy individual who reported 'lack of time' as a barrier to physical activity to incorporate activity into her daily life by making small changes e.g. walking instead of driving short distances. She also stated how she had recently bought a pedometer in order to keep track of her activity; although it is not known whether this was a direct result of the prompts, it shows that direct action was taken to increase her physical activity for improved health.

Another teacher stated how the prompts were effective in raising his awareness to become more active. He said;

'I mean it's done the job it's brought awareness up I'd say for quite a lot of people, it's just whether it's been enough to get them to do something about it.'

He did feel however, that the prompts alone were not enough for him to change his behaviour;

'Did it make me think about it? Yes. Did it make me go and do anything? Probably no.'

The prompts appeared to nudge existing behaviour rather than to form new behaviours. The prompts appeared to rely on existing beliefs, perceptions and knowledge to change behaviour.

## Teacher response to the prompts

However, for the rest of the participants in the focus group, although they all noticed the prompts, they had no effect on their physical activity beliefs and perceptions.

*'I've noticed these things around school but to be honest I've not paid much attention.'* 

'I did notice the prompts, they had no effect on me I just kind of saw new stickers on the wall.'

'Well I do a bit of walking I don't think I do any more than I did if I'm being honest and I do know what you're on about with the prompts but I'm not sure what they were supposed to do.'

The lack of success of the prompts does not appear to be through apathy. The prompts were criticised by some of the teachers, for having no clear message as they stated how they weren't sure what the prompts were telling them to do. Rather than not seeing the prompts, some of the teachers reported being unsure and uncertain of their purpose.

'I know it says ad break, well ad breaks are like two minutes long... what do you do in two minutes? I'm not sure'

'By the time you've got your shoes on its time to sit back down'

'That's right, I didn't know what it was telling me to do'

Clearly the teachers felt the prompts were age inappropriate as they thought they were for the students. With one teacher commenting;

'In some ways the cartoon nature of it might have taken away some of the seriousness of it.'

And another teaching stating;

'I saw them in school and I thought people would click on, but again I thought it was more for the kids, but I didn't think they'd get it.'

Suggestions were made by the teachers on ways the posters could be improved to encourage people to exercise;

*'Well you've either got encouragement or fear haven't you…you can do motivational posters with people going out for a run, people going out walking kind of like you can do it one step at a time or are you going to do 'this is what will happen if you don't'…'* 

As teachers they responded to the issue of how to make information clear, accessible and to engage the reader. Another teacher suggested;

'I think the idea of actually making it clear to people that they don't have to be going out running marathons... but the idea of having something with actual pictures and you know 'did you know if you walk for an extra ten minutes a day it will cause these benefits'... it could actually make people go 'oh I can do that'... if you kind of make people realise that these tiny little changes could help and then it's just about building on that.'

The data suggests that prompts need to be age specific so that individuals can relate subliminally to the messages contained. In the focus group the teachers felt that the prompts used in this study did not relate to them and they made concrete suggestions for improving the prompts for future use. The fact that the prompts had limited impact on the teachers could be seen to be a matter of age inappropriate prompts rather than a measure of the responsiveness of the teachers to improving their physical activity.

## Teacher insights into student engagement with physical activity

Following their professional interest in how to engage the students by using prompts, the teachers discussed the physical activity beliefs and behaviours of their students. They were more engaged in discussing the student's physical activity beliefs and behaviours than their own. It suggests it is easier to discuss physical activity and the health benefits as an issue rather than explore how to change one's own behaviour. The teachers commented on how much time the students spend on sedentary activities such as playing on video games, on social media and watching TV;

'The biggest problem is that the pool of electronic games is massive...'

'Kids having all this flash bangy stuff at home and they couldn't sit in a two hour maths lesson and it's not flash bangy so they just switch off they've got a low boredom threshold, I've got a Frisbee or I can play on this, movies and blowing stuff up... it's also about attention span as well.'

This technology culture could be being reinforced by their parents as the teachers report many of them spend their free time on these sedentary activities;

'And now we're getting the kids of the electronic age kids having kids so it's multiplying the effect'

'It's the parents in the local community as well because to be honest quite a lot of parents of the kids at this school are thirty years old and that's the reason why our kids end up playing Grand Theft Auto and things like that because their parents are playing it...'

The teachers also state how parents may discourage their children from taking part in activity outside of school as they would rather them be at home where they know they are safe;

'There's the safe thing the idea that they think they're safe and if they're in the house and they're on the games they know where they are and they're not getting into trouble and if they go outside... what if they get hurt, what if they get into trouble... they've been brought up to think that going outside has its dangers so that's why it needs to be group things they they're doing where they feel safe and their families feel safe.'

In contrast, the teachers also acknowledge how media can have a positive influence on physical activity participation;

'Last year there were however many kids going around during their breaks and lunchtimes doing Pokémon Go and stuff, girls doing it...it's the first time I'd even seen them outside during break time.'

'Maybe if it was advertised on social media for them because that's where they spend most of their time.'

This suggests that prompts to increase activity may be more effective if they pop up on social media/TV rather than posters on walls as we have found that adolescents spend the majority of their time on phones, laptops etc. Suggestions were also made as to how the media can be used to entice children and adolescents to participate in physical activity;

'Capitalise on the social events as well cos' whenever there's a London marathon there's a huge intake and so maybe adjust to what's happening in the media... when we have the Olympics or when there's the rugby seven nations on maybe rotate the posters and link to what's happening in the media and news.'

This is a useful point as we have found that these adolescents spend the majority of their time on social media or watching TV and so linking PE and sports in schools and communities to the events in the media may be an effective way to encourage adolescents to try new sports and physical activities.

The teachers also support what the students said in their focus groups with regards to their lack of interest in PE and physical activities as they have noticed a decline in the uptake of extra-curricular activities;

'Kids are just not interested these days unfortunately... it's all about wanting to go home and do this.'

*We are finding that in PE the uptake on extra-curricular is massively changing, we used to have 30-40 to Netball practice, you're lucky if you get five or six now.'* 

It was also commented on how exercise can be perceived as chore or a punishment for children and adolescents;

'The kids want to play on the DVD's, the Xbox and then it becomes almost a chore or it's a telling off or a punishment when the mother says 'you need to go outside'... mentally already it's a punishment, sanction...so we need to reverse that.'

This participant is suggesting how perceptions of physical activity need changing and here his quotes indicate that posters alone are not enough. One participant also commented on how adolescents might not see the point of taking part in physical activity;

'In the teens you've got the girls that are still slim because of their metabolism and it's when you get to your twenties that you suddenly realise that not being active starts to have an impact on your figure and that's when they start to care about it.'

Adolescents may not think about the health benefits associated with physical activity (unlike adults) as young people usually experience fewer health problems (Pan et al, 2009). The teachers also stated how emphasis needs to be based on praise and rewarding individuals for their participation in physical activity;

'Praise is three times more effective than criticism and so it's based on what have you done today.'

'The things that work with me are, the very first time that I met a target, mines connected to my phone (Fibit), I got a free audio book and I was like brilliant!'

'Sometimes we're so focused on the negative and not actually focused on the little things that they are doing and if we keep saying 'oh they won't do it', they don't do it.'

Another finding that emerged from the data was education and providing information about physical activity to students. It was suggested that both parents and students need educating on the benefits of physical activity and the consequences of being sedentary;

'I think it's an education factor that you know our level of education has the understanding of you need to be getting out, you need to be doing exercise.' The teachers also stated how the students need to be made aware of different ways in which they can be active. They should also be provided with information such as what clubs/facilities are available to them locally so they know where and how they can participate in physical activity;

'Tie it to something that's specific, something local where you can give them numbers, website addresses, Facebook pages that say... did you know there is a session that you could go to that's training in the park or there's this...'

'Maybe they think that activity is going out for a jog or going to the gym...if we actually had posters around that kept reminding them that there's different ways of being active.'

Another important aspect that impacted on student participation was economic factors. As the teachers point out, things like gym memberships, sports equipment and clothing can be expensive and some parents may not be able to afford to pay for their child to take part;

'It's the parents who can afford it as well, it's not cheap.'

'It's about bringing it to them, particularly to under privileged kids and making sure that they are actually able to do it.'

'If it was able to make it that they have free access to rackets and things like that and they didn't have to actually pay to engage in it....'

The post-intervention focus group showed clearly the teachers were more willing and able to discuss the physical activity beliefs, perceptions and behaviours of their students rather than discuss their own beliefs, perceptions and behaviour. They showed a clear understanding of the health benefits of improved physical activity however pointed out how their work and home life prevented them turning this understanding into action. There was indication of where an individual had already began changing her behaviour to incorporate physical activity into her daily life; therefore her response to the prompts was positive. Where there was little or no change in beliefs, perceptions and behaviour the prompts were ineffective and were seen as age inappropriate and not relevant. The teachers were however very engaged in the wider issue of their student's physical activity and health and had many suggestions on how to engage them in ways other than using prompts.

## <u> Pre-intervention – Students</u>

The second part of the qualitative data looked at eight year 11 students (all females), again using pre-prompt intervention focus groups and post intervention focus groups. These were six months apart and the post-intervention focus groups took place after the visual prompts had been placed around the school, in the same way as for the teachers. In the preintervention focus group the students were asked about their existing physical activity beliefs, perceptions and behaviour. The main themes that were identified from the pre-intervention focus groups with the students was the whole school environment, self-efficacy, social influences, competing factors and a lack of physical activity facilities in the local area. See below for final template of themes from the pre-intervention focus group.

#### 1. Whole school environment and student physical self-efficacy

- 1.1 School policy environment (short breaks, timetable, PE uniforms, phones allowed)
- 1.2 School cultural environment (exam pressure, low status of PE)
- 1.3 School physical environment (lack of privacy in changing rooms, lack of space to be active)

#### 2. Self-efficacy and PA

2.1 Lack of self-efficacy when taking part in organised PA at school 2.1.1 Linked to being judged negatively by peers

#### 3. Social influence

- 3.1 Role models
  - 3.1.1 Relationships with PE teachers
  - 3.1.2 Same sex leaders important for girls
- 3.2 Peer influence (can have a positive or negative effect) 3.2.1 Girls prefer single sex PE classes

#### 4. Competing factors to PA

- 4.1 Sedentary activities (TV, social media)
- 4.2 Students want to go home and relax/switch off after school
  - 4.2.1 This is linked to being too tired from the school day
- 4.3 Socialising with friends
- 4.4 Homework
- 4.5 Looking after siblings
- 4.6 Chores

#### 5. Lack of PA facilities in local area

#### Figure 3: Final template of themes from the student pre-intervention focus group

#### Whole school environment and student physical self-efficacy

One of the main themes that emerged from the data was the school policy and cultural environment. This includes the timetable, short breaks, focus on exams and sitting at desks all day. What emerged was how difficult students found organising their own physical activity within the school environment and timetable. The school policy environment acted to inhibit physical self-efficacy as in this particular school the students only have a very short lunch hour of thirty minutes which doesn't allow much time for them to eat and to also take part in extra-curricular activities such as sports clubs. One student said;

'You just waste half your lunch just to get to your lunch and then by the time you get your lunch and then you get to the stairs and then you've got about five minutes to eat it... and then you've got to go to lesson again.'

#### With another student stating;

'I go to the canteen and then I get my lunch, I have to wait for like half my lunch and then I go to the stairs'

The students often stated how they got more time at break/lunch times in primary school. When discussing what they did in their break time the students described sitting and talking to friends, chatting and sitting on the stairs. Whilst social, this activity is mainly physically inactive. The students described activities such as using phones out of lessons, connecting to Facebook and meeting friends. Again these are social activities but with limited physical activity. This appeared to respond to school timetable where break time was seen as a social time where students could use phones or occupy space like stairways to meet friends. All of the students in the focus group said that they spend their break and lunch times sitting by the stairs talking to each other or on their mobile phones;

'I sit and talk with them guys on the stairs'

'I just sit and talk to my friends'

'I just chat with friends'

'Sometimes we go get food and then take it to the stairs'

*'We're not allowed phones in lesson but at break and lunch that's our time so we can do what we want and go on our phones and stuff'* 

'Every person I walk past they're always like this...food in one hand, phone in the other'

As PE is not a core curriculum subject students are allowed to opt out of PE lessons giving it a low status within the school. For example, one student said;

'I don't do it, I don't really do it'

Another student explained;

### 'But if I don't want to do it I just bring a note in'.

The students described how they find PE lessons and after school clubs 'boring', some of them stated that they opt out of lessons and when asked whether they like PE lessons half of the students in the focus group said they disliked it. The students also stated that they would only stay behind to take part in clubs if it was something that they enjoyed doing. One student commented;

'If there were after school clubs I wouldn't go anyway, cos' they just don't do anything good'

## 'If there was a trampolining club I'd do it, but there isn't.

As we see above, the school policy and cultural environment makes it difficult for students to have any physical self-efficacy. When the students were asked if they would prefer to have a longer lunch hour so they could attend a club at lunch time they all reported being embarrassed with one expressing; *'hell no, it's embarrassing'*. Another respondent's comments show how they are not in control of their timetable and when they might choose to be physically active;

'I'd rather do something like that at the end of school because you get so hot and sweaty and then you've got to do the rest of the day'.

Another school policy that came up as a barrier to the students participating in PE lessons was the PE uniforms that they are required to wear during PE. The students all stated how they disliked wearing their PE uniforms and would prefer to wear all black tops;

'We have to wear these stupid tops... we like the black t-shirts more'

The physical school environment also acted as a barrier to physical activity. There are showers in the changing rooms at the school however the students said they would not use them due to the lack of individual privacy;

'I'd never have a shower in the school, ever.'

'You'd just all be stood there together.'

'It's not really like private like when you go in there you've just got a bit of a wall.'

These quotes are showing how the whole school environment (policy, cultural and physical) has a negative impact on the physical activity beliefs and perceptions of these students and acts as a barrier for them taking part in physical activity.

## Self-efficacy and physical activity

Another barrier to physical activity participation for these adolescents was their perceived physical ability and self-efficacy within peer groups at school. It was clear from this focus group that these students lacked confidence in their ability to take part in some organised sports/activities at school. One student commented;

*Cos' it's just embarrassing, people are judgemental and some of the moves are quite hard to do'* (Zumba).

With another student stating;

'It's something I'd do at home, Zumba'

When asked what their favourite activity was to do during PE lessons one student said;

'Table tennis cos you just stand there... at least you're not doing stuff'

This comment suggests that this student may prefer to take part in activities, like table tennis, as it doesn't involve much physical ability and exertion. This could be linked to fear of being negatively judged by peers when taking part in more high-intensity physical activities. Or it could be because they are able to play table tennis without having to wear PE uniforms/sports clothing and then they don't have to worry about spending the rest of the day in school 'being sweaty'.

# <u>Social influence</u>

An important influence on adolescent's participation in physical activity is the presence of positive role models and social support provided from significant others such as peers, family and teachers. It is evident from the data that the students did not have good relationships with their PE teachers. The comments from the focus group were clear in their dislike and discomfort with PE teachers. Overwhelmingly, their comments were negative such as;

'I do not like my PE teacher'

'I don't like any of them, they're all horrible'

'She doesn't like me, I don't know what it is she just doesn't like me'

The students also expressed that their ideal PE teacher or person to run a physical activity session would have to be a woman. In some instances having a male PE teacher was viewed as preventing any participation at all as one student said;

'Depends what it is and depends who would run it as well... a woman. I'd feel more comfortable than if it was a man then forget it'.

Peer influence had a negative effect on some of the students' physical activity participation as one student commented;

'And it just depends who's in there (PE lessons) cos some people are judgemental'

For another student, peer influence had a positive effect on her physical activity participation as her friends joining the gym acted as a motivator for her to do so;

'Because a lot of my friends are doing it as well' (going to the gym)

One student also commented on how the only club at school that works is netball as they've got a team for it, showing the importance of the social aspect for adolescents participating in physical activity;

'The only thing that really works is netball because there's been a team for a while now'

The presence of male school peers also came up as an important barrier to these students participating in PE lessons with the students expressing these comments;

'It would have to be all girls as well' 'Not the boys cos' they just mess around most of them' 'But the boys are too rough'

These quotes are showing how social support (or lack of) from significant others such as peers and teachers can have significant positive or negative impacts on the physical activity beliefs and perceptions of adolescent girls.

# Competing factors to physical activity

Whilst it's clear to see that the whole school environment limited individual physical selfefficacy, the students did not report much physical activity outside of school either. All of the students in the focus group reported that they spend their free time after school on sedentary activities such as watching television and spending time on social media on their phones and laptops, rather than spending this time being physically active. When the students were asked if they would go to after school physical activity-based clubs they all said no, with one student commenting; 'I want to go home, I'm so tired from school, I just want to go home.'

A similar comment was expressed by another student;

## 'I just want to go home. I don't want to stay here.

This is further supporting how the whole school environment has a negative impact on these students as they are too tired at the end of the school day to stay and take part in any extracurricular physical activity clubs. Similar to the teachers, other reasons that the students gave for wanting to go home straight after school included 'getting comfy', 'chilling out', sedentary activities such as watching TV and social media and to eat snacks. However, some students reported that they would spend some of their free time after school being active such as walking their dog or walking around outside with friends – although not high-intensity activities, the students are still participating in some physical activity here. In some ways media influences had a positive effect on the student's physical activity participation. For example, students commented on the Pokémon Go game and how this made them walk more;

'Tend to walk around on the Pokémon game, that's what I actually do'

'Yeah I used to stay in, it's like a hobby. I enjoy doing it its quite fun actually...it gets you walking around everywhere'

Non-physical social activity was described as important outside of school, as well as in school. One student also stated;

#### 'The only reason I leave my house is to go to someone else's house.'

Some of the students also reported other barriers to physical activity such as having homework to do, chores and looking after their younger siblings. Many of the students reported having to drop their younger brother or sister off at school before they start school themselves. Some of these students also then have to pick their siblings up after school, take them home and look after them until their parents get home from school. With one student commenting;

'I get home, look after my brother, then have tea'.

And another stating;

'I have to take my brother to school'

These students would therefore struggle to take part in any after school clubs or attend gyms/leisure facilities after school as their time is taken up from looking after younger siblings. Some of the students also reported having homework to do after school;

'Do some chores, do my homework'

'I either sit on the settee or do my homework'

# Lack of physical activity facilities in local area

Another barrier mentioned to being physically active by these students was a lack of facilities in their local area. The students reported a lack of age appropriate sports/physical activity within their local area;

'If we had stuff to do outside of school I'd probably go but there's not much to do.'

'I do have time after school but there's never anything interesting to do... well they do but it's all older people.'

In the pre-intervention focus group, whilst the whole school environment limited physical self-efficacy, the students did not appear to be motivated outside of school to increase their physical activity either. Competing factors such as socialising with friends and media influences took priority over taking part in physical activity. Out of school constraints such as, home responsibilities and homework also acted to limit physical activity.

# <u>Post-intervention – Students</u>

Like with the teachers, the purpose of the post-intervention focus groups was to explore the impact of environmental prompts (nudges) on the student's physical activity beliefs and perceptions. Overall, the second focus group data showed little change in response to the prompts. The prompts did not appear to engage the students or increase their physical activity at school. The main themes that emerged from the post-intervention focus groups with the students were disengagement from physical activity, prioritising academic achievement over physical activity and issues with the prompt intervention. See below for final template of themes identified from the post-intervention focus group.

#### 1. Disengagement from PA

- 1.1 Lack of interest
- 1.2 Lack of physical self-efficacy

1.3 Prompts not enough to change attitudes

1.4 Schools need to do more to engage girls in PA – whole school environment needs to promote PA 1.5 Adolescents need to be given choice with regards to PA

#### 2. Prioritising academic achievement over PA

2.1 Exam pressure and worries of getting into college
 2.2 Prompts not enough to overcome barriers of whole school environment and disengagement from PA

#### 3. Issues with the prompt intervention

- 3.1 Students uncertain of the purpose/message of the prompts
- 3.2 Intervention setting (school) may have influenced the successfulness of prompts
- 3.3 Age group of students difficult to engage in research

Figure 4: Final template of themes from the student post-intervention focus group

## Disengagement from physical activity

One of the main themes that emerged from the data was the student's disengagement from physical activity. It was clear from the data that these prompts were not effective in influencing their beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity as the student's reported not paying much attention to them;

'I've seen them but not paid much attention' (this was repeated by four of the girls).

As we found in the pre-intervention focus groups the students interviewed had a lack of interest towards physical activity and lacked physical self-efficacy. These factors were still evident in the post-intervention focus groups as the students showed no enthusiasm towards taking part in most physical activity. All of the students mentioned numerous times throughout the focus groups that they would like to take part in trampolining;

'They just don't do anything good...they used to do trampolining and stuff but they can't even do that anymore'

'We always used to ask to do trampolining in PE but we never get to do it because the person that used to do it isn't here.'

'Every time I want to do trampolining she says you can't do it'

'They've got the certificates for it but it's ran out...and they don't have the qualifications to do that kinda stuff'

'The PE teacher we've got said that she needs to update it and needs training and we're never allowed to go on them'

This reinforces how the school policy environment acts to limit choice as, even though all of the students expressed an interest, trampolining was not offered as a PE curriculum subject. This could have led to the students' enjoyment in PE and enhanced their physical selfefficacy; yet the school was not able to respond as there was not a qualified teacher available.

Where students were motivated and saw physical activity as fun they reported enjoying the social aspects rather than the health benefits;

'Well sometimes I used to play football or we just kick a ball about... I still do it I went out the other day and there was like a group of us and it was fun...'

Where motivated the students enjoyed some physical activity. It can be seen from the data that the students like walking if they are walking for a reason;

'Sometimes I'll walk to get a coffee.'

'Yeah I'd go to the shop or something.'

'Sometimes I'll go out and talk with friends instead of just sitting down having a talk we'd be walking around.'

This suggests that students in the study where motivated and saw the point they would take part in physical activity, this was often linked to social and leisure pursuit.

#### Prioritising academic achievement over physical activity

Another reason why the girls may not have noticed the prompts in the school setting could be because they were preoccupied with achieving their exams, as the research took place at the same time as the students were preparing for their GCSE exams. The students commented on how their exams were coming up soon and many of them wanted to go to college afterwards. Therefore, they may have been more concerned about revising to get the grades they need to get into college. Taking part in physical activity could be seen as a waste of their time, especially when it is not seen as being important;

'It depends sometimes I just don't see the point or I just can't be bothered.'

The 'culture' of the school also appeared to prioritise academic achievement. With the focus on revising and exams the student's stated how there was nothing to do after school apart from revision;

'It's all like revision classes, there's not really much to do for year eleven.'

It was evident from the data that the pressure from school work impacted on their energy or motivation to do anything after school;

'Maybe if it was summer then maybe yeah, if it was on a weekend I would but not after school.' (Go swimming)

'After school I don't really do much, on the weekends I'll go out but that's about it cos' nobody does anything after school.'

'During the week I just don't really do much I just go home and on the odd occasion I'll go out if I can be bothered.'

'Sometimes I'll watch YouTube and I'll talk to people like at the same time, but then sometimes I just don't wana talk to anyone so...'

The immediate pressure of school work, particularly preparing for exams, limited the influence of the prompts to increase positive physical activity beliefs and perceptions for the students. The prompts were not significant enough to overcome the barriers produced by the whole school environment and their disengagement from physical activity.

#### Issues with the prompt intervention

Another reason why the prompts may not have been effective for the students could be because some of them reported not understanding the prompts;

#### 'I've been aware of them but I've not understood what they've meant.'

The prompts were noticed by all students in the focus group, however their answers when asked if they could describe the prompts suggests that they were not memorable or that the students had not understood the purpose of the prompts;

'I've seen them, I've read them... but it just goes...'

'Is it that walk and somet else...'

'One had a black TV and a person sat watching it or somet'

'TV break, Ad break or somet like that, I don't know'

'I can't remember to be honest'

'I don't really remember...I remember one of them had like a car on'

The intervention setting, as in a school, could have had an impact on the successfulness of the prompts as one student commented;

# 'But I've also seen more posters about school concerts and stuff'

This suggests that the prompts could have been getting lost with other posters and messages on the wall as the school walls were full with posters and students work etc. The age of the students in the study (15 and 16 year olds) could also have influenced their responses as some students stated how they *'had not paid much attention'* to the prompts and one student stated;

# 'I don't really pay attention to things.'

This highlights the difficulties of engaging this age group in research, especially in discussions around topics which they are disengaged with or see as a low priority, such as in this case, physical activity.

# **Chapter 6: Discussion**

This study extends what is known on perceived barriers and motivators to being physically active for students (adolescent girls) and teachers. Both the students and teachers in this study reported physical, psychological, social and environmental barriers and motivators to physical activity participation, which will be discussed below in more detail. The findings from this study show how an individual's physical activity is influenced by a number of factors at multiple levels and therefore provides support for the importance of an ecological model (Sallis et al, 2006) when designing and implementing interventions to increase physical activity.

Similar to previous findings, the whole school environment and policies, such as having limited activities during PE lessons, PE uniforms and short breaks, were reported by the students as main barriers to taking part in physical activity (Moore et al, 2010; Morton et al, 2016; Pawlowski et al, 2014). As adolescents spend around six/seven hours each day (during term time) in school, school is a central part of their lives. Changing the school environments

and policies that act as barriers for these students may be an effective way of increasing their physical activity beliefs and perceptions.

Consistent with previous research, psychological factors to physical activity participation reported by the students in this study included; physical self-efficacy, ability, feeling self-conscious when wearing PE uniforms and lack of enjoyment (Biddle et al, 2011). Many of these psychological barriers were linked to fears of being negatively judged by peers with one student stating; '*Cos' it's just embarrassing, people are judgemental and some of the moves are quite hard to do' (Zumba)* and with another student stating that they would only take part in activities, like Zumba, at home.

The descriptive statistics from the pre-intervention questionnaires support previous research in that males have more positive and less negative attitudes to physical activity than females (Edwards & Sackett, 2016). The males in this study also scored higher on the decisional balance questionnaire. This also supports previous findings in that males see fewer cons and more pros to taking part in physical activity, than females (Kim et al, 2010; Edwards & Sackett, 2016; Robbins et al, 2004). However, with regards to the self-efficacy questionnaire, females scored slightly higher than males. This contradicts previous research which suggests that generally, males have higher physical self-efficacy, than females (Edwards & Sackett, 2016). However, these results could be skewed as more females (21) completed the questionnaires compared to only 10 males. There were also two outliers as two females scored a lot higher than the others on the questionnaire, which would have affected the mean score. This highlights the limitations of using quantitative measures, such as questionnaires, as the results may not accurately reflect individual's thoughts and beliefs.

The findings from this study, as in Hagger et al (2009), highlighted the importance positive role models and having good relationships with PE teachers has on adolescents' beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity. The role of the PE teacher was of particular importance in this study as the students expressed negative comments, such as 'I don't like any of them, they're all horrible' about their PE teachers and how they wouldn't even consider taking part if they had a male teacher; 'if it was a man then forget it'. These findings are similar to that of Mitchell et al (2015) who found having same sex leaders made adolescent girls feel more comfortable taking part in PE, and increased their willingness to take part. Increasing feelings of social support during PE lessons could therefore be an effective way of increasing these adolescents' self-efficacy beliefs, enjoyment and ultimately their participation. Policies could

be put into place in schools to encourage teachers to increase the social support they give to their students during PE lessons.

Another important factor affecting these students physical activity participation was the presence of their male peers. These students commented a number of times on how some of their peers are *'judgemental'* during PE lessons and how they would prefer to take part in physical activity if it was *'all girls, as the boys are too rough'*. This is a common theme across many studies where girls have stated that they would prefer PE lessons if they had single sex classes due to boys being too competitive, being stronger and having different levels of ability to girls (Allender et al, 2006; Eime et al, 2013; Mitchell et al, 2015).

Peer influence and support, as in Zhang et al (2012) was also of importance when discussing reasons why these students may or not be active. The students in this study commented on how they would be more likely to take part in physical activities in the presence of 'nonjudgemental' peers and when with their friends, for example one student stated how she would only go for a walk with a friend and another student joined the gym with her friend. However, the students in this study also reported sitting together on the stairs during their break/lunch times. As Voorhees et al (2005) found, adolescent girls who have more active friends tend to be more physically active than those adolescents with inactive friends. Therefore, peer influence is having a negative effect on these students physical activity participation as they all take part in sedentary behaviours together. This is supported by Belanger et al (2011) who found that lower levels of physical activity participation in adolescents is associated with poor social support and negative social validation. This is evident from the data as all students conform to the same 'sedentary' behavior during break and lunch times. This could be because of the perception that taking part in physical activity/sports is "uncool" for adolescent girls (Slater & Tiggeman, 2010) and because of this none of the students want to suggest taking part in a club at lunch time as not to appear 'different' from the group. Schools could try to encourage students to exercise or take part in group physical activities together in order to increase the fun and social element of physical activity. The school could do this by providing opportunities for them to be active during break times and after school, if the students enjoy social physical activities during school time it may increase the likelihood of them engaging in social physical activity during leisure time.

The students also reported a lack of sports/leisure facilities in their local area as a barrier to being physically active with them reporting *'there's not much to do.'* This has been supported by previous research which has found how adolescent's physical activity levels are largely influenced by the area they live in (Powell et al, 2006; Humbert et al, 2006; Dagkas & Stathi, 2007). The fact that there are a limited choice of physical activity and fewer opportunities available for these students to be active within their local area could be down to the area being of a low SES, which means lower tax bases to finance facilities in the area (Moore et al, 2008).

Another common barrier to physical activity participation reported by these students was that they had to look after their younger siblings before and after school. This was also found in a study conducted by Dagkas and Stathi (2007) who found that adolescents from low SES backgrounds often take on the 'carer role' of younger siblings as their parents have to work longer hours and can't afford to pay for childcare. These adolescents therefore have limited time to be physically active as their time is taken up looking after their younger siblings. This was also evident in a study by Macdonald et al (2004) who suggests that changing household structures could have significant positive impacts on children and adolescent's lifestyle and physical activity habits. These barriers reported by the students, that are preventing them from participating in physical activity outside of school, highlights the importance of schools delivering a wide range of quality PE lessons and extra-curricular activities. This is particularly important in schools located in areas of low SES as school may be the only opportunity for some students to be physically active. It has been suggested that schools establish good links with sports/community clubs as a way to support and encourage the students to be physically active outside of school (Kirk, 2005).

Half of the teachers in this focus group reported having a physical condition or injury that caused them pain or discomfort and acted as a barrier to physical activity participation. This has been supported by previous research which has found how pain, due to a physical condition or injury, prevents many adults from being physically active (Belza et al, 2004; Grossman & Stewart, 2003; Newson & Kemps, 2007). However, for one teacher, the awareness that regular physical activity will improve her arthritis acted as a motivator to exercise. This has been found in many studies where individuals with arthritis have reported taking part in physical activity as a way to manage their symptoms and improve their condition (Der Ananian et al, 2006; Wilcox et al, 2006; Henchoz et al, 2013; Loeppenthin et al, 2014).

One of the main barriers to being physically active for the teachers was 'the daily struggle' and time constraints. The teachers in this study reported having demanding home and work lives, which often left them with little time, energy and motivation to take part in physical activity. These findings are in line with previous studies which have found that major barriers to physical activity for adults include 'not having enough time', 'being too lazy', lack of motivation and tiredness (Justine et al, 2013; Reichert et al, 2007; Kirk & Rhodes, 2011; Choi et al, 2017). These findings from the present study suggests that for these teachers, taking part in physical activity is seen as a low priority, even though they are aware of the health benefits of being active, as work and home-life responsibilities tend to come first for them. This was also evident in other studies where individuals see physical activity as the lowest priority in their life and reported taking part in exercise as a waste of their time (Justine et al, 2013; Schutzer & Graves, 2004). As in this study, insufficient time to be active was one the most reported barriers, by adults, across a number of studies (Fletcher et al, 2008; Phipps et al, 2010; Justine et al, 2013). This supports the view that many individuals have that taking part in physical activity is time consuming (Pham et al, 2007).

In line with previous research, lack of self-efficacy and self-belief to participating in physical activity also came up as a barrier for some of the teachers in this study (Ayotte et al, 2010; Bauman et al, 2012; Choi et al, 2017). One teacher in the current study did not have the confidence and self-belief that she could do high-intensity exercise which would help her lose weight; therefore she did not see the point in taking part in regular exercise as she didn't think she'd see a result. The teachers in this study also reported having negative health habits such as drinking alcohol and watching TV in their free time. Some of the teachers expressed how they try to adopt more healthy and active lifestyles but they end up reverting back to their negative health habits. The reason for this could be due to, as we found, these teachers lack physical self-efficacy and self-belief and along with a low motivation to physical activity, lack of time, energy and tiredness, these teachers find it difficult to stick to positive health habits. Physical activity interventions should therefore aim to increase self-efficacy and self-belief in order to increase participation. Individuals also need to be made aware that they don't need to be taking part in high-intensity physical activity in order to lose weight as it is recommended that all adults should take part in 150 minutes moderate-intensity activity, such as walking, in order to gain health benefits (Department of Health, 2011).

It is important to note that the barriers to participating in physical activity reported by the teachers in this study may not apply to all adults and occupations as various studies on work-

related stress have consistently found that teachers are amongst the most stressed workers in Britain, with 83% of teachers reporting that they had work-place stress (Precey, 2015). Stress has a negative impact on physical activity and usually causes people to take part in unhealthy behaviours (Stults-Kolehmainen & Sinha, 2014). Some of the main causes of teachers stress included; excessive workload, working hours and pressures of assessment targets and inspections e.g. OFSTED. Therefore, some of the barriers reported in the current study, such as *'not having enough time and energy'* and being *'too tired'* to take part in any physical activity may not apply to individuals with less demanding occupations.

The post-intervention findings from this study suggest that prompts are not effective, in influencing adolescent's physical activity beliefs and perceptions, within a school setting. This is not to say that prompts would not be effective in other settings, for this age group, and future research would be needed to explore this. It was evident throughout both the preintervention and post-intervention focus groups that these students lacked interest in physical activity and had completely disengaged, and this could be one of the reasons why the prompts didn't have an impact on them. These findings suggest that the prompts alone are not enough to change this and highlights the need for interventions that aim to engage adolescent girls in PE classes and physical activity within school. Studies have shown that an effective way of doing this is by giving adolescents control, such as allowing them to choose their activities and designing their PE uniform, and this resulted in increased physical activity enjoyment and participation (Brooks & Magnussun, 2006; Enright & O'Sullivan, 2010; Fisette, 2011; Mitchell et al, 2015). The findings from the current study suggest that changes need to be made to the way PE and extra-curricular activities are being delivered in this school to increase adolescents' enjoyment in physical activity, as prompts alone are not enough to do this. A link has been found between positive experiences of PE in school and increased participation in physical activities outside of school, as those positive experiences of PE provide students with high physical self-efficacy and confidence (Brooks & Magnussun, 2006). Again, this shows the importance of schools providing quality PE and physical activity clubs to all students.

The findings from this study provide us with an insight into how the 'whole school' environment negatively impacts upon physical activity beliefs and perceptions, and could help to explain why the prompts were ineffective, for the students, within this setting. It was clear from the focus groups that the whole school environment, as expected, is heavily focused on academic achievement. This creates a pressured environment for the students as we found that they are highly motivated to get good grades to get into college. The students reported in this study that their time after school is mostly spent doing homework or revising, which was also found to be a common barrier across many studies (Morton et al, 2016). This doesn't leave the students with much time to take part in physical activity as they reported that when not in school or revising, they want to spend their 'free time' by relaxing, switching off from school work and socialising with friends. It is therefore not a lack of motivation, as these students are highly motivated to do well at exams but it is that the school environment does not provide much time and support for these students to engage in physical activity. Moore et al (2010) suggests that adolescent girls need help to overcome negative feelings associated with hard days at school by being provided with fun and preferred activities. Whilst Duncan et al (2011) found that an effective way of increasing students' physical activity levels outside of school is by providing physical activity-based homework schedules. Schools are then placing focus on physical activity and health so that the importance is not solely based on academic achievement.

Non-participation in physical activity does not necessarily mean that the students are not interested. As we can see from the data, the students were keen to engage in trampolining; 'If there was a trampolining club I'd do it', but this activity was no longer offered at the school. This shows that the students were willing to take part in physical activity when it was an activity of their choice, which they enjoyed doing, and the prompts alone are not providing the students with this opportunity.

A further reason why the prompts may not have been effective in increasing physical activity could be because they were not understood by some of the respondents. This can be seen in the data when one student commented 'I've been aware of them but I've not understood what they've meant.' The teachers also expressed some confusion over the message of the prompts with one teacher commenting; 'I know it says ad break, well ad breaks are like two minutes long, what do you do in two minutes?... I didn't know what it was telling me to do.' This suggests that it could be the design of the prompts in this study that are at fault and not the concept of using prompts as a way to change individual behaviour. It could be that perhaps the message may be more effective in increasing physical activity behaviours. Prompts that promote the fun and social aspects of physical activity may have been more effective for the students, as we discovered from the data that these students like to spend their time socialising and would only want to take part in physical activity for enjoyment. Prompts with

more specific, time and fitness based messages, as found in Jennings et al (2017), may have been more effective for the teachers as many of them wanted to lead more active lifestyles, but reported having limited time due to demanding work and home lives. Studies have found that the most effective prompts in increasing physical activity, in adults, explicitly stated the associated health benefits, such as 'exercises your heart' and 'works your legs' (Jennings et al, 2017).

Some of the teachers commented on how they thought the prompts were for the students '*I* saw them in school...but again I thought it was more for the kids'. This supports what was found by Cleland et al (2014) in that individuals will fail to engage with interventions which they perceive as being irrelevant to them. This suggests that members of the school (staff and students) should be involved in planning the interventions to ensure they are targeting the 'right people' and meeting everyone's needs (Cleland et al, 2014).

As this is the first qualitative study, to the researchers knowledge, that has explored whether environmental prompts are effective in nudging people to become more active, it is difficult to make any direct links from the findings of this study to previous research. However, the quantitative studies into this area, whilst providing useful data, have been criticised for mainly only influencing those individuals that are already physically active and people not considering to change (pre-contemplators) are less likely to take notice of the prompts (Kerr et al, 2000, Cohen, 2013). This criticism is supported within this study as the teachers that didn't take much notice of the prompts also reported that they didn't take part in much physical activity in the pre-intervention focus groups. Additionally, the teachers who found the prompts to be effective in altering either their awareness and/or physical activity behaviours reported taking part in the most physical activity in the pre-intervention focus groups. As Eves et al (2012) points out, exposure to point-of-decision prompts is only brief, this brief exposure of a few seconds is not enough to change individual's beliefs and perceptions of physical activity. Therefore, PODP's act as reminders for those individuals that already have existing intentions to be active. This highlights the need for an additional intervention that targets beliefs and perceptions towards physical activity, as well as PODP's to remind individuals to carry out the behaviour. These findings highlight the problems with national strategies trying to engage all individuals in the same interventions to increase physical activity as we have found, the same interventions, such as prompts, may not be effective for everyone.

# 6.1 Limitations

Because this study sample was only drawn from one school, in one area of low SES in the North West of England, the study should be replicated with a larger sample size drawn from a number of schools in different settings, across the UK, to ensure the findings are representative of the whole population. Due to the study being conducted in a school, the researcher was required to get a DBS check before any of the research could be carried out. This took a while, and because of the time constraints of the study, the researcher's supervisor had to conduct the pre-intervention focus groups. This could have influenced the findings from the post-intervention focus groups as the researcher had not had chance to build up a relationship with the respondents throughout all stages of the research.

A major limitation of this study was the low response rate of questionnaires as it meant that the researcher was unable to run statistical tests to see whether the prompts influenced the respondent's answers post-intervention. The descriptive statistics may also have been skewed as more females completed the questionnaires, than males. The researcher was unable to see if there were any differences in responses between students and teachers as only one male member of staff and 3 female members of staff completed the questionnaire. The use of 5-point likert scales also bring about limitations as respondents are limited to five responses. Central tendency bias is where respondents avoid extreme response categories and choose the middle responses (Camparo & Camparo, 2013). This could explain why the mean self-efficacy score for both the males and females was around average. This again shows the importance of conducting qualitative research where individuals are able to expand on their answers and provide more detailed, in-depth data.

It is important to comment on how the age of the students in the study, as aged 15/16 years old, may have affected the findings. It was quite difficult to engage the students in the research and at times during the focus group they were quiet and it was hard to gain in-depth answers from them. The presence of their school peers may also have influenced their responses. As noted in the analysis, there were many times when the students repeated the same answers as each other or replied with 'same'. It is not known whether these were honest answers or if they were just agreeing with each other, and it is a possibility that individual interviews with the students may have produced more accurate and detailed data.

A further methodological limitation of the study was the use of self-report data. The researcher had to trust and rely on the information participants gave regarding their physical

activity behaviours and effectiveness of the prompts. Due to the nature of focus groups, some people may not have voiced their personal and honest opinions due to the presence of the other participants, especially if they shared different views as some individuals may just agree with the rest of the group as to not look different. To overcome the disadvantages of using focus groups, further research into this area could employ methods such as individual interviews, observations or use objective measures of physical activity.

Despite these limitations, the findings from this study were consistent with the previous literature on individual's physical activity beliefs and perceived barriers and motivators of being physically active. These findings are useful as they may lead to the development of effective interventions to enhance physical activity levels. Additionally, this study, to the researcher's knowledge, is one of the first qualitative studies in the UK to assess the impact of environmental prompts on physical activity beliefs and perceptions. The findings are useful as they provide researchers/health promoters with an insight into how environmental prompts may or may not be effective in altering physical activity beliefs and perceptions and encouraging individuals to be physically active. The participants in this study also suggested ideas as to how physical activity levels can be increased in both adults and adolescents. Additionally, in order to check the quality of the researchers that are experts in the field of physical activity and health behaviour change.

# **Chapter 7: Implications**

To promote long term participation in physical activity, for adolescent girls, the findings from this study suggests that changes need to be made in the way PE is delivered in schools. Students should be involved in discussions as to what activities they would like to take part in and on the design of their PE uniforms. As we found in this study, and in previous research, adolescent girls are bored with the traditional types of activities offered in schools e.g. football and netball. Training should therefore be provided for teachers and community leaders to enable them to deliver a variety of individual and group physical activities to keep all adolescents engaged and enjoying taking part. It is important for teachers to build up positive relationships with students and place the importance on participation, and not physical ability, for those students that are less able or lack confidence. In order to increase adolescent girl's physical activity levels schools could perhaps run 'girl only' sessions as this would give girls an opportunity to participate in physical activity without having to worry about being judged by their male peers. It has been suggested that if adolescents enjoy physical activity in schools, it may lead to them developing positive physical activity habits during leisure time and in later life. It is particularly important for schools in low SES areas to offer a wide range of quality physical activities, during and after school, that all students enjoy and want to take part in as for some young people this is the only chance they get to take part in organised physical activities. Free or cheap transport could also be provided for adolescents after school to leisure facilities/clubs to ensure they are safe getting there, especially for those students whose parents are too busy to take them.

The findings from this study also suggest that a way to increase the physical activity levels in this school would be to make the lunch hour longer so that students and teachers have time to take part in physical activity and then have time to get ready for their next lessons. The whole school environment needs to promote physical activity by providing clubs and spaces to be active during break times and by making physical activity and health a priority, along with academic achievement. The school also needs to provide a positive and enthusiastic atmosphere with regards to physical activity to encourage both the students and teachers to increase their participation.

As a way to overcome feelings of tiredness and lack of energy after their school/working day, for both the students and the teachers, schools could offer sessions such as yoga and Pilates during break/lunch times or before/after school as a way to relieve stress as well as being active. Combining stress management programming with exercise interventions may also be an effective way to reduce reductions in physical activity due to stress. As self-efficacy came up as a barrier to physical activity participation for both the students and the teachers in this study, interventions are needed that aim to enhance individual's self-efficacy beliefs regarding physical activity.

# **Chapter 8: Conclusion**

Due to rising physical inactivity rates and associated health problems, this study sought to explore the physical activity beliefs and perceptions of students and their teachers, and the impact of environmental prompts (nudges) on these beliefs and perceptions. The findings from this study suggest that environmental prompts are effective for some adults, in terms of increasing their awareness about leading a more active lifestyle. For one teacher in particular, the prompts led to her making small changes in her daily life to become more physically active. However, for the other teachers in the study, although they were all aware of the prompts, they had no influence on their physical activity beliefs and perceptions. This was also the case with the students, although they all reported being aware of the prompts, the prompts did not seem to have any influence on their physical activity beliefs and perceptions. Reasons for the prompts having little influence on the students and teachers in this study can be explained by their busy lives, including demanding workloads at school/work and homelife responsibilities and physical activity being their lowest priority. The students also appeared to have disengaged from physical activity and were preoccupied with socialising with friends and their academic achievement, and so it is not surprising that the prompts had little influence. The findings from this study highlight the need for changes to be made to the way PE is delivered in schools, and how the 'whole school environment' approaches physical activity.

Due to the methodological limitations of this study, further research is needed to explore whether environmental prompts are an effective way to influence physical activity beliefs and perceptions. As the teachers were fully engaged in discussing their student's physical activity behaviours, further research could involve working with teachers on the design of future prompts. Students could also be involved in the design of prompts, or with the design of additional interventions to increase physical activity as a way of giving them choice and empowerment with regards to physical activity.

# **References**

Abdi, J., Eftekhar, H., Estebsari, F., & Sadeghi, R. (2015). Theory-Based Interventions in Physical Activity: A Systematic Review of Literature in Iran. *Global Journal of Health Science*, *7* (3), 215-229. doi: 10.5539/gjhs.v7n3p215.

Adams, J., & White, M. (2003). Are activity promotion interventions based on the transtheoretical model effective? A critical review. British Journal of Sports Medicine, 37(2), 106-114. doi:10.1136/bjsm.37.2.106

Ajzen, I. (1991). The theory of planned behavior. *Organizational Behavior and Human Decision Processes*, 50 (2), 179-211. doi: 10.1016/0749-5978(91)90020-T.

Allender, S., Cowburn, G., & Foster, C. (2006). Understanding participation in sport and physical activity among children and adults: a review of qualitative studies. *Health Education Research*, *21* (6), 826-835. doi: 10.1093/her/cyl063.

Assael, H. (1995). Consumer behavior and marketing action (5th ed.). Cincinnati, Ohio: South-Western College Pub.

Ayabe, M., Kumahara, H., Morimura, K., Ishii, K., Sakane, N., & Tanaka, H. (2012). Very short bouts of non-exercise physical activity associated with metabolic syndrome under freeliving conditions in japanese female adults. *European Journal of Applied Physiology*, *112*(10), 3525-3532. doi:10.1007/s00421-012-2342-8

Ayotte, B.J., Margrett, J.A., & Hicks-Patrick, J. (2010). Physical activity in middle-aged and young-old adults: the roles of self-efficacy, barriers, outcome expectancies, self-regulatory behaviors and social support.. *Journal of Health Psychology*, *15* (2), 173-185. doi: 10.1177/1359105309342283.

Baldwin, R., Cave, M., & Lodge, M. (2011). Understanding Regulation : Theory, Strategy, and Practice (2nd ed.). Oxford: Oxford University Press.

Bandura, A. (1977). Self-efficacy: Toward a Unifying Theory of Behavioral Change. *Psychological Review*, *84* (2), 191-215. doi: 10.1037/0033-295X.84.2.191.

Bandura, A. (1997). Self-efficacy: The exercise of control. New York: W.H. Freeman.

Bauman, A. E., Reis, R. S., Sallis, J. F., Wells, J. C., Loos, R. J. F., Martin, B. W., & Lancet Physical Activity Series Working Group. (2012). Correlates of physical activity: Why are some people physically active and others not? *Lancet (London, England), 380*(9838), 258. doi:10.1016/S0140-6736(12)60735-1

Bélanger, M., Casey, M., Cormier, M., Filion, A. L., Martin, G., Aubut, S., . . . Beauchamp, J. (2011). Maintenance and decline of physical activity during adolescence: Insights from a qualitative study. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 8(1), 117-117. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-8-117

Bélanger, M., Casey, M., Cormier, M., Filion, A.L., Martin, G., Aubut, S. ... Beauchamp, J. (2011). Maintenance and decline of physical activity during adolescence: insights from a qualitative study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 8 (1), 117-126. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-117.

Bellicha, A., Kieusseian, A., Fontvieille, A., Tataranni, A., Charreire, H., & Oppert, J. (2015). Stair-use interventions in worksites and public settings — A systematic review of effectiveness and external validity. *Preventive medicine*, 70 (1), 3-13. Retrieved from 10.1016/j.ypmed.2014.11.001.

Belza, B., Walwick, J., Shiu-Thornton, S., Schwartz, S., Taylor, M., & LoGerfo, J. (2004). Older Adult Perspectives on Physical Activity and Exercise: Voices From Multiple Cultures. *Preventing chronic disease*, 1 (4), A09-A21. Retrieved from <u>https://www.cdc.gov</u>.

Benden, M. E., Blake, J. J., Wendel, M. L., & Huber, J., John C. (2011). The impact of standbiased desks in classrooms on calorie expenditure in children. American Journal of Public Health, 101(8), 1433-1436. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2010.300072

Benton, J. S., Anderson, J., Hunter, R. F., & French, D. P. (2016). The effect of changing the built environment on physical activity: A quantitative review of the risk of bias in natural experiments. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *13*(1) doi:10.1186/s12966-016-0433-3

Biddle, S., Whitehead, S., O'donovan, T., & Nevill, M. (2005). Correlates of Participation in Physical Activity for Adolescent Girls: A Systematic Review of Recent Literature. *Journal of physical activity & health, 2* (4), 423-434. doi: 10.1123/jpah.2.4.423.

Biddle, S.J.H., Atkin, A.J., Cavill, N., & Foster, C. (2011). Correlates of physical activity in youth: a review of quantitative systematic reviews. *International Review of Sport and Exercise Psychology*, *4* (1), 25-49. doi: 10.1080/1750984X.2010.548528.

Boen, F., Maurissen, K., & Opdenacker, J. (2010). A simple health sign increases stair use in a shopping mall and two train stations in Flanders, Belgium. *Health Promotion International*, 25 (2), 183-191. doi: 10.1093/heapro/daq001.

Bohn-Goldbaum, E. E., Phongsavan, P., Merom, D., Rogers, K., Kamalesh, V., & Bauman, A. E. (2013). Does playground improvement increase physical activity among children? A quasi-experimental study of a natural experiment. Journal of Environmental and Public Health, 2013, 109841.

Boreham, C. A. G., Wallace, W. F. M., & Nevill, A. (2000). Training effects of accumulated daily stair-climbing exercise in previously sedentary young women. *Preventive Medicine*, *30*(4), 277-281. doi:10.1006/pmed.2000.0634

Bradbury, A., McGimpsey, I., & Santori, D. (2013). Revising rationality: The use of 'Nudge' approaches in neoliberal education policy. Journal of Education Policy, 28(2), 247-267. doi:10.1080/02680939.2012.719638

Breuer, C., Hallmann, K., Wicker, P., & Feiler, S. (2010). Socio-economic patterns of sport demand and ageing. European Review of Aging and Physical Activity, 7(2), 61-70. doi:10.1007/s11556-010-0066-5

British Heart Foundation. (2017). *Physical Inactivity Report 2017*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.bhf.org.uk/publications/statistics/physical-inactivity-report-2017</u>.

Brooks, F. & Magnusson, J. (2006). Taking part counts: adolescents' experiences of the transition from inactivity to active participation in school-based physical education. *Health education research*, *21* (6), 872-883. doi: 10.1093/her/cyl006.

Brown, P. (2012). A nudge in the right direction? towards a sociological engagement with libertarian paternalism. Social Policy and Society, 11(3), 305-317. doi:10.1017/S1474746412000061

Broyles, S. T., Mowen, A. J., Theall, K. P., Gustat, J., & Rung, A. L. (2011). Integrating social capital into a park-use and active-living framework. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 40(5), 522-529. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2010.12.028

Buchan, D.S., Ollis, S., Thomas, N.E., & Baker, J.S. (2012). Physical Activity Behaviour: An Overview of Current and Emergent Theoretical Practices. *Journal of Obesity*, 2012 (1), 1-11. doi: 10.1155/2012/546459.

Burbank, P.M., Reibe, D., Padula, C.A., & Nigg, C.R. (2002). Exercise and older adults: changing behavior with the transtheoretical model. *Orthopaedic Nursing*, *21* (4), 51-63. Retrieved from

 $\label{eq:http://rc4ht3qs8p.scholar.serialssolutions.com/?sid=google&auinit=PM&aulast=Burbank&atitle=Exercise+and+older+adults:+changing+behavior+with+the+transtheoretical+model&title=Orthopaedic+nursing&volume=21&sissue=4&date=2002&spage=51&sissn=0744-6020.$ 

Camparo, J., & Camparo, L. B. (2013). The analysis of likert scales using state multipoles: An application of quantum methods to behavioral sciences data. Journal of Educational and Behavioral Statistics, 38(1), 81-101. doi:10.3102/1076998611431084

Capewell, S., Ford, E. S., Croft, J. B., Critchley, J. A., Greenlund, K. J., & Labarthe, D. R. (2010). Cardiovascular risk factor trends and potential for reducing coronary heart disease mortality in the united states of america. *Bulletin of the World Health Organization*, 88(2), 120-130. doi:10.2471/BLT.08.057885

Choi, J., Lee, M., Lee, J., Kang, D., & Choi, J. (2017). Correlates associated with participation in physical activity among adults: A systematic review of reviews and update. BMC Public Health, 17 doi:10.1186/s12889-017-4255-2

Cleland, C.L., Hunter, R.F., Tully, M.A., Scott, D., Kee, F., Donnelly, M. ... Cupples, M.E. (2014). Identifying solutions to increase participation in physical activity interventions within a socio-economically disadvantaged community: a qualitative study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 11 (1), 68-77. doi: 1186/1479-5868-11-68.

Cohen, D. A., Golinelli, D., Williamson, S., Sehgal, A., Marsh, T., & McKenzie, T. L. (2009). Effects of park improvements on park use and physical activity: Policy and programming implications. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 37(6), 475.

Cohen, D. A., Marsh, T., Williamson, S., Golinelli, D., & McKenzie, T. L. (2012). Impact and cost-effectiveness of family fitness zones: A natural experiment in urban public parks. *Health & Place, 18*(1), 39-45. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2011.09.008

Cohen, D. A., Marsh, T., Williamson, S., Han, B., Derose, K. P., Golinelli, D., & McKenzie, T. L. (2014). The potential for pocket parks to increase physical activity. American Journal of Health Promotion, 28(3\_suppl), S19-S26. doi:10.4278/ajhp.130430-QUAN-213

Cohen, S.M. (2013). Examining the Effects of a Health Promotion Intervention on the Use of Stairs. *Journal of Articles in Support of the Null Hypothesis*, *10* (1), 17-24. doi: 10.1.1.363.1868.

Craig, P., Cooper, C., Gunnell, D., Haw, S., Lawson, K., Macintyre, S., . . . Thompson, S. (2012). Using natural experiments to evaluate population health interventions: New medical

research council guidance. Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health (1979-), 66(12), 1182-1186. doi:10.1136/jech-2011-200375

Creswell, J. W., Plano Clark, V. L., Gutmann, M. L., & Hanson, W. E. (2003). Advanced mixed methods research designs. *Handbook of mixed methods in social and behavioral research*, 209-240.

Creswell, J.W. & Plano Clark, V.L. (2011). *Designing and Conducting Mixed Methods Research* (2nd ed.). Los Angeles: SAGE Publications.

Dagkas, S. & Stathi, A. (2007). Exploring social and environmental factors affecting adolescents' participation in physical activity. *European physical education review, 13* (3), 369-384. doi: 10.1177/1356336X07081800.

Denscombe, M. (2007). *The good research guide: for small-scale social research projects* (3rd ed.). Maidenhead: Open University Press.

Department for Communities and Local Government (2015). *Is your neighbourhood good for employment but bad for health?*. Retrieved from http://www.neighbourhood.statistics.gov.uk

Department of Health (2011). *UK physical activity guidelines. Obesity and healthy eating*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/uk-physical-activity-guidelines</u>

Department of Health (2015). 2010 to 2015 government policy: obesity and healthy eating. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/2010-to-2015-government-policy-obesity-and-healthy-eating/2010-to-2015-government-policy-obesity-and-healthy-eating</u>

Der Ananian, C., Wilcox, S., Saunders, R., Watkins, K., & Evans, A. (2006). Factors That Influence Exercise Among Adults With Arthritis in Three Activity Levels. *Preventing chronic disease, 3* (3), A81-A97. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1636716/pdf/PCD33A81.pdf</u>.

Duncan, E.A.S. & Nicol, M.M. (2004). Subtle Realism and Occupational Therapy: an Alternative Approach to Knowledge Generation and Evaluation. *British Journal of Occupational Therapy*, 67 (10), 453-456. doi: 10.1177/030802260406701006.

Duncan, S., McPhee, J.C., Schluter, P.J., Zinn, C., Smith, R., & Schofield, G. (2011). Efficacy of a compulsory homework programme for increasing physical activity and healthy eating in children: the healthy homework pilot study. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, 8 (1), 127-137. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-8-127.

Dwyer, J.J., Allison, K.R., Goldenberg, E.R., Fein, A.J., Yoshida, K.K., & Boutilier, M.A. (2006). Adolescent girls' perceived barriers to participation in physical activity.. *Adolescence*, *41* (161), 75-89. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16689442">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16689442</a>.

Edwards, E.S. & Sackett, S.C. (2016). Psychosocial Variables Related to Why Women are Less Active than Men and Related Health Implications.. *Clinical Medicine Insights: Women's Health, 2016* (1), 47-56. doi: 10.4137/CMWH.S34668.

Eime, R. M., Young, J. A., Harvey, J. T., Charity, M. J., & Payne, W. R. (2013). A systematic review of the psychological and social benefits of participation in sport for children and adolescents: Informing development of a conceptual model of health through

sport. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 10(1), 98-98. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-10-98

Emmanuel, G., & Delaney, H. (2014). Professors' influence on students' beliefs, values, and attitudes in the classroom. Journal of College and Character, 15(4), 245-258. doi:10.1515/jcc-2014-0029

Enright, E. & O'Sullivan, M. (2010). 'Can I do it in my pyjamas?'Negotiating a physical education curriculum with teenage girls. *European Physical Education Review*, *16* (3), 203-222. doi: 10.1177/1356336X10382967.

Ensaff, H., Homer, M., Sahota, P., Braybrook, D., Coan, S., & McLeod, H. (2015). Food Choice Architecture: An Intervention in a Secondary School and its Impact on Students' Plant-based Food Choices. *Nutrients*, 7 (6), 4426-4437. doi: 10.3390/nu7064426.

Eyre, E.L.J., Duncan, M.J., Birch, S.L., & Cox, V. (2015). Environmental and school influences on physical activity in South Asian children from low socio-economic backgrounds: A qualitative study . *Journal of Child Health Care, 19* (3), 345-358. doi: 10.1177/1367493513508845.

Eysenck, W. (2004). Research methods: Psychological enquiry.

Farrell, L., Hollingsworth, B., Propper, C., & Shields, M. A. (2014). The socioeconomic gradient in physical inactivity: Evidence from one million adults in England. *Social Science & Medicine*, *123*, 55-63. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.10.039

Farrell, L., Hollingsworth, B., Propper, C., & Shields, M.A. (2014). The socioeconomic gradient in physical inactivity: Evidence from one million adults in England. *Social Science & Medicine*, *123* (1), 55-63. doi: 10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.10.039.

Ferdinand, A.O., Sen, B., Rahurkar, S., Engler, S., & Menachemi,, N. (2012). The Relationship Between Built Environments and Physical Activity: A Systematic Review. *American Journal of Public Health*, *102* (10), e7-e13. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2012.300740.

Fisette, J.L. (2011). Negotiating Power Within High School Girls' Exploratory Projects in Physical Education. *Women in Sport and Physical Activity Journal*, 20 (1), 73-90. doi: 10.1123/wspaj.20.1.73.

Fletcher, G. M., Behrens, T. K., & Domina, L. (2008). Barriers and enabling factors for work-site physical activity programs: A qualitative examination. Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 5(3), 418.

Flintoff, A. & Scraton, S. (2001). Stepping into Active Leisure? Young Women's Perceptions of Active Lifestyles and their Experiences of School Physical Education. *Sport, Education and Society, 6* (1), 5-21. doi: 10.1080/13573320120033854.

Forrester, M.A. (2010). *Doing qualitative research in psychology: a practical guide*. Los Angeles, [Calif.], London: SAGE.

Gidlow, C., Johnston, L. H., Crone, D., Ellis, N., & James, D. (2006). A systematic review of the relationship between socio-economic position and physical activity. *Health Education Journal*, *65*(4), 338-367. doi:10.1177/0017896906069378

Gill, P., Stewart, K., Treasure, E., & Chadwick, B. (2008). Methods of data collection in qualitative research: interviews and focus groups. *British Dental Journal*, 204 (6), 291-295. doi: 10.1038/bdj.2008.192.

Glanz, K., Rimer, B.K., & Viswanath, K. (2008). *Health behavior and health education: theory, research, and practice* (4th ed.). San Francisco, Calif: Jossey-Bass.

Glanz, K., Rimer, B.K., & Viswanath, K. (2015). *Health behavior: theory, research, and practice* (5th ed.). San Francisco, CA: Jossey-Bass & Pfeiffer Imprints, Wiley.

Gómez, J. E., Johnson, B. A., Selva, M., & Sallis, J. F. (2004). Violent crime and outdoor physical activity among inner-city youth. *Preventive Medicine*, *39*(5), 876-881. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.03.019

Gómez, J. E., Johnson, B. A., Selva, M., & Sallis, J. F. (2004). Violent crime and outdoor physical activity among inner-city youth. Preventive Medicine, 39(5), 876-881. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.03.019

Gordon-Larsen, P., Nelson, M.C., Page, P., & Popkin, B.M. (2006). Inequality in the built environment underlies key health disparities in physical activity and obesity.. *Pediatrics*, *117* (2), 417-424. doi: 10.1542/peds.2005-0058.

Government Office for Science (2007). *Foresight. Tackling Obesities: Future Choices – Project Report.* Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications/reducing-obesity-future-choices</u>

Greaney, M.L., Riebe, D., Garber, C.E., Rossi, J.S., Lees, F.D., Burbank, P.A. ... Clark, P.G. (2008). Long-Term Effects of a Stage-Based Intervention for Changing Exercise Intentions and Behavior in Older Adults . *Gerontologist*, 48 (3), 358-367. doi: 10.1093/geront/48.3.358.

Grossman, M.D. & Stewart, A.L. (2003). "You Aren't Going to Get Better by Just Sitting Around": Physical Activity Perceptions, Motivations, and Barriers in Adults 75 Years of Age or Older. *The American journal of geriatric cardiology*, *12* (1), 33-37. doi: 10.1111/j.1076-7460.2003.01753.x.

Hagger, M., Chatzisarantis, N.L., Hein, V., Soós, I., Karsai, I., Lintunen, T., & Leemans, S. (2009). Teacher, peer and parent autonomy support in physical education and leisure-time physical activity: A trans-contextual model of motivation in four nations. *Psychology and Health*, 24 (6), 689-711. doi: 10.1080/08870440801956192.

Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. (1995). *Ethnography: principles in practice* (2nd ed.). London: Routledge.

Hammersley, M. & Atkinson, P. (2007). *Ethnography: principles in practice* (3rd ed.). London: Routledge.

Hammersley, M. (1992) Ethnography and realism. In M. Hammersley (ed.) What's Wrong With Ethnography? London: Routledge.

Hannay, J., Dudley, R., Milan, S., & Leibovitz, P. K. (2013). Combining photovoice and focus groups: Engaging latina teens in community assessment. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 44(3 Suppl 3), S215.

Henchoz, Y., Zufferey, P., & So, A. (2013). Stages of change, barriers, benefits, and preferences for exercise in RA patients: a crosssectional study. *Scandinavian Journal of Rheumatology*, *42* (2), 136-145. doi: 10.3109/03009742.2012.724707.

Hollands, G.J., Shemilt, I., Marteau, T.M., Jebb, S.A., Kelly, M.P., Nakamura, R. ... Ogilvie, D. (2013). Altering micro-environments to change population health behaviour: towards an evidence base for choice architecture interventions. *BMC public health*, *13* (1), 1218-1224. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-13-1218.

Holt, N. L., Cunningham, C., Sehn, Z. L., Spence, J. C., Newton, A. S., & Ball, G. D. C. (2009). Neighborhood physical activity opportunities for inner-city children and youth. Health and Place, 15(4), 1022-1028. doi:10.1016/j.healthplace.2009.04.002

Humbert, M.L., Chad, K.E., Spink, K.S., Muhajarine, N., Anderson, K.D., Bruner, M.W. ... Gryba, C.R. (2006). Factors That Influence Physical Activity Participation Among High- and Low-SES Youth. *Qualitative Health Research*, *16* (4), 467-483. doi: 10.1177/1049732305286051.

Humpel, N., Owen, N., & Leslie, E. (2002). Environmental factors associated with adults' participation in physical activity: A review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 22(3), 188-199. doi:10.1016/S0749-3797(01)00426-3

Hunter, R. F., Christian, H., Veitch, J., Astell-Burt, T., Hipp, J. A., & Schipperijn, J. (2015). The impact of interventions to promote physical activity in urban green space: A systematic review and recommendations for future research. Social Science & Medicine, 124, 246-256. doi:10.1016/j.socscimed.2014.11.051

Jennings, C.A., Yun, L., Loitz, C.C., Lee, E., & Mummery, W.K. (2017). A Systematic Review of Interventions to Increase Stair Use. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *52* (1), 106-114. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2016.08.014.

Justine, M., Azizan, A., Hassan, V., Salleh, Z., & Manaf, H. (2013). Barriers to participation in physical activity and exercise among middle-aged and elderly individuals.. *Singapore Med J*, *54* (10), 581-586. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/24154584</u>.

Kahn, E. B., Ramsey, L. T., Brownson, R. C., Heath, G. W., Howze, E. H., Powell, K. E., ... Corso, P. (2002). The effectiveness of interventions to increase physical activity. A systematic review. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *22*(4 Suppl), 73.

Kerr, J., Eves, F., & Carroll, D. (2000). Posters can prompt less active people to use the stairs. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, *54* (12), 942-943. doi: 10.1136/jech.54.12.942.

Kim, H.K., Kim, M.J., Park, C.J., & Kim, H.O. (2010). Gender differences in physical activity and its determinants in rural adults in Korea. *Journal of Clinical Nursing*, *19* (5-6), 876-883. doi: 10.1111/j.1365-2702.2009.03054.x.

King, N. (2004). Using templates in the thematic analysis of texts. Cassell, C., & Symon., G.(Eds) Essential Guide to Qualitative Methods in Organizational Research. London: Sage Publications.

Kirby, J., Levin, K. A., & Inchley, J. (2013). Socio-environmental influences on physical activity among young people: A qualitative study. Health Education Research, 28(6), 954-969. doi:10.1093/her/cyt085

Kirk, D. (2005). Physical education, youth sport and lifelong participation: The importance of early learning experiences. *European Physical Education Review*, *11* (3), 239-255. doi: 10.1177/1356336X05056649.

Kirk, M. A., & Rhodes, R. E. (2011). Occupation correlates of adults' participation in leisuretime physical activity: A systematic review. American Journal of Preventive Medicine, 40(4), 476.

Kosters, M., & Heijden, v. d., J. (2015). From mechanism to virtue: Evaluating nudge theory. Evaluation : The International Journal of Theory, Research and Practice, 21(3), 276-291. doi:10.1177/1356389015590218

Kremer, P., Elshaug, C., Leslie, E., Toumbourou, J.W., Patton, G.C., & Williams, J. (2014). Physical activity, leisure-time screen use and depression among children and young adolescents. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport, 17* (2), 183-187. doi: 10.1016/j.jsams.2013.03.012.

Krueger, R. A., & Casey, M. A. (2014). Focus groups: A practical guide for applied research(5th ed.). Thousand Oaks, CA: SAGE Publications.

Lakshman, M., Sinha, L., Biswas, M., Charles, M., & Arora, N.K. (2000). Quantitative Vs qualitative research methods. *The Indian Journal of Pediatrics*, 67 (5), 369-377. doi: 10.1007/BF02820690.

Lanningham-Foster, L., Foster, R. C., McCrady, S. K., Manohar, C. U., Jensen, T. B., Mitre, N. G., . . . Levine, J. A. (2008). Changing the school environment to increase physical activity in children. Obesity, 16(8), 1849-1853. doi:10.1038/oby.2008.282

Leonard, T. C. (2008). Richard H. Thaler, Cass R. Sunstein, Nudge: Improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness. *Constitutional Political Economy*, *19*(4), 356-360.

Loeppenthin, K., Esbensen, B.A., Ostergaard, M., Jennum, P., Thomsen, T., & Midtgaard, J. (2014). Physical activity maintenance in patients with rheumatoid arthritis: a qualitative study. *Clinical rehabilitation*, 28 (3), 289-299. doi: 10.1177/0269215513501526.

Macdonald, D., Rodger, S., Ziviani, J., Jenkins, D., Batch, J., & Jones, J. (2004). Physical activity as a dimension of family life for lower primary school children. *Sport, Education and Society*, *9* (3), 307-325. doi: 10.1080/13573320412331302412.

Mahoney, J. (2001). Review Essay: Beyond Correlational Analysis: Recent Innovations in Theory and Method. *Sociological Forum, 16* (3), 575-593. Retrieved from <u>http://www.jstor.org.libaccess.hud.ac.uk/stable/684726</u>.

Marshall, S. J., & Biddle, S. J. H. (2001). The transtheoretical model of behavior change: A meta-analysis of applications to physical activity and exercise. Annals of Behavioral Medicine, 23(4), 229-246. doi:10.1207/S15324796ABM2304\_2

Marshall, S. J., Biddle, S. J. H., Gorely, T., Cameron, N., & Murdey, I. (2004). Relationships between media use, body fatness and physical activity in children and youth: A metaanalysis. International Journal of Obesity, 28(10), 1238-1246. doi:10.1038/sj.ijo.0802706

Marteau, T. (2011). Judging nudging: can nudging improve population health?. *British Medical Journal*, *342* (7791), 263-265. doi: 10.1136/bmj.d228.

Maxwell, J.A. (2012). A realist approach for qualitative research. London: Sage.

Mayne, S. L., Auchincloss, A. H., & Michael, Y. L. (2015). Impact of policy and built environment changes on obesity-related outcomes: A systematic review of naturally occurring experiments. Obesity Reviews, 16(5), 362-375. doi:10.1111/obr.12269

McCormack, G. R., & Shiell, A. (2011). In search of causality: A systematic review of the relationship between the built environment and physical activity among adults. The International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity, 8(1), 125-125. doi:10.1186/1479-5868-8-125

McCormack, G., Giles-Corti, B., Lange, A., Smith, T., Martin, K., & Pikora, T. J. (2004). An update of recent evidence of the relationship between objective and self-report measures of the physical environment and physical activity behaviours. *Journal of Science and Medicine in Sport*, *7*(1), 81-92. doi:10.1016/S1440-2440(04)80282-2

Merom, D., Bauman, A., Vita, P., & Close, G. (2003). An environmental intervention to promote walking and cycling—the impact of a newly constructed rail trail in western sydney.Preventive Medicine, 36(2), 235-242. doi:10.1016/S0091-7435(02)00025-7

Michie, S., & West, R. (2013). Behaviour change theory and evidence: A presentation to government. Health Psychology Review, 7(1), 1-22. doi:10.1080/17437199.2011.649445

Miller, W.L. & Crabtree, B.F. (2000). Clinical Research. In N. Denzin & Y. Lincoln (Eds.) *Handbook of Qualitative Research* (2nd ed.) (pp. 607-631). Newbury Park, CA: Sage Publications.

Mitchell, F., Gray, S., & Inchley, J. (2015). 'This choice thing really works .' Changes in experiences and engagement of adolescent girls in physical education classes, during a school-based physical activity programme. *Physical Education and Sport Pedagogy, 20* (6), 593-611. doi: 10.1080/17408989.2013.837433.

Moore, J. B., Jilcott, S. B., Shores, K. A., Evenson, K. R., Brownson, R. C., & Novick, L. F. (2010). A qualitative examination of perceived barriers and facilitators of physical activity for urban and rural youth. Health Education Research, 25(2), 355-367. doi:10.1093/her/cyq004

Moore, L. V., Diez Roux, A. V., Evenson, K. R., McGinn, A. P., & Brines, S. J. (2008). Availability of recreational resources in minority and low socioeconomic status areas. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *34*(1), 16-22. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2007.09.021

Moran, M., Van Cauwenberg, J., Hercky-Linnewiel, R., Cerin, E., Deforche, B., & Plaut, P. (2014). Understanding the relationships between the physical environment and physical activity in older adults: a systematic review of qualitative studies. *International Journal of Behavioral Nutrition and Physical Activity*, *11* (1), 79-79. doi: 10.1186/1479-5868-11-79.

Morse, J.M. (1991). Approaches to qualitative-quantitative methodological triangulation.. *Nursing Research*, 40 (2), 120-123. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/2003072</u>.

Morton, K.L., Atkin, A.J., Corder, K., Suhrcke, M., & van Sluijs, E.M.F. (2016). The school environment and adolescent physical activity and sedentary behaviour: a mixed-studies systematic review. *Obesity reviews*, *17*(2), 142-158. doi: 10.1111/obr.12352.

Motl, R.W., Dishman, R.K., Trost, S.G., Saunders, R.P., Dowda, M., Felton, G. ... Pate, R.R. (2000). Factorial Validity and Invariance of Questionnaires Measuring Social-Cognitive Determinants of Physical Activity among Adolescent Girls. *Preventive Medicine*, *31* (5), 584-594. doi: doi:10.1006/pmed.2000.0735.

Müller-Riemenschneider, F., Nocon, M., Reinhold, T., & Willich, S. N. (2010). Promotion of physical activity using point-of-decision prompts in berlin underground stations.

*International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, 7(8), 3063-3070. doi:10.3390/ijerph7083063

Müller-Riemenschneider, F., Nocon, M., Reinhold, T., & Willich, S. N. (2010). Promotion of physical activity using point-of-decision prompts in berlin underground stations. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *7*(8), 3063-3070. doi:10.3390/ijerph7083063

Murphy, E., Dingwall, R., Greatbatch, D., Parker, S., and Watson, P. (1998) Qualitative research methods in health technology assessment: A review of the literature. Health Technology Assessment, 12: 16.

National Health Service. (2015). *Benefits of exercise*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.nhs.uk/Livewell/fitness/Pages/whybeactive.aspx</u>.

Nelson, T.D., Benson, E.R., & Jensen, C.D. (2010). Negative Attitudes Toward Physical Activity: Measurement and Role in Predicting Physical Activity Levels Among Preadolescents. *Journal of Pediatric Psychology*, *35* (1), 89-97. doi: 10.1093/jpepsy/jsp040.

Newson, R.S. & Kemps, E.B. (2007). Factors That Promote and Prevent Exercise Engagement in Older Adults. *Journal of Aging and Health*, *19* (3), 470-481. doi: 10.1177/0898264307300169.

Nigg, C. R., & Riebe, D. (2002). The Transtheoretical Model: Research review of exercise behavior and older adults, (pp. 147-180). In P. Burbank & D. Riebe (Eds.), Promoting exercise and behavior change in older adults: interventions with the Transtheoretical Model. Springer Publishing Company.

Nigg, C. R., Riebe, D., Rossi, J. S., Stillwell, K. M., Garber, C. E., Burbank, P. M., & Clark. P. G. (2001). Do the transtheoretical model instruments for exercise behavior apply to older adults? *Medicine and Science in Sports and Exercise*, 33(5), S149.

Nigg, C.R. & Courneya, K.S. (1998). Transtheoretical model: Examining adolescent exercise behavior. *Journal of Adolescent Health*, 22 (3), 214-224. doi: 1016/S1054-139X(97)00141-9.

Nigg, C.R., Geller, K.S., Motl, R.W., Horwath, C.C., Wertin, K.K., & Dishman, R.K. (2011). A research agenda to examine the efficacy and relevance of the transtheoretical model for physical activity behavior. *Psychology of Sport & Exercise, 12* (1), 7-12. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2010.04.004.

Nomura, T., Yoshimoto, Y., Akezaki, Y., & Sato, A. (2009). Changing behavioral patterns to promote physical activity with motivational signs. *Environmental Health and Preventive Medicine*, *14*(1), 20-25. doi:10.1007/s12199-008-0053-x

Pawlowski, C.S., Tjørnhøj-Thomsen, T., Schipperijn, J., & Troelsen, J. (2014). Barriers for recess physical activity: a gender specific qualitative focus group exploration. *BMC Public Health*, *14* (1), 639-649. doi: 10.1186/1471-2458-14-639.

Paxton, R. J., Nigg, C. R., Motl, R. W., McGee, K., McCurdy, D., Matthai, C. H., & Dishman, R. K. (2008). Are constructs of the transtheoretical model for physical activity measured equivalently between sexes, age groups, and ethnicities? *Annals of Behavioral Medicine*, *35*(3), 308-318. doi:10.1007/s12160-008-9035-x

Petticrew, M., Cummins, S., Ferrell, C., Findlay, A., Higgins, C., Hoy, C., . . . Sparks, L. (2005). Natural experiments: An underused tool for public health? *Public Health*, *119*(9), 751-757. doi:10.1016/j.puhe.2004.11.008

Pham, K. L., Harrison, G. G., & Kagawa-Singer, M. (2007). Perceptions of diet and physical activity among california hmong adults and youths. Preventing Chronic Disease, 4(4), A93.

Phillips, D.C. (1987). Philosophy, science, and social inquiry. Oxford: Pergamon.

Phipps, E., Madison, N., Pomerantz, S. C., & Klein, M. G. (2010). Identifying and assessing interests and concerns of priority populations for work-site programs to promote physical activity. Health Promotion Practice, 11(1), 71-78. doi:10.1177/1524839908318165

Pillay, J.D., Kolbe-Alexander, T., Achmat, M., Carstens, M., & Lambert, E.V. (2009). Are point-of-decision prompts in a sports science and medicine centre effective in changing the prevalence of stair usage? A preliminary study. *South African Journal of Sports Medicine*, *21* (2), 58-64. doi: 10.17159/2078-516X/2009/v21i2a299.

Powell, L.M., Slater, S., Chaloupka, F.J., & Harper, D. (2006). Availability of Physical Activity-Related Facilities and Neighborhood Demographic and Socioeconomic Characteristics: A National Study. *American Journal of Public Health*, *96* (9), 1676-1680. doi: 10.2105/AJPH.2005.065573.

Precey, M. (2015). *Teacher stress levels in England 'soaring', data shows*. Retrieved from <u>http://www.bbc.co.uk/news/education</u>.

Prochaska, J.O. & DiClemente, C.C. (1984). *The transtheoretical approach: crossing traditional boundaries of therapy*. Homewood Ill: Dow Jones-Irwin.

Prochaska, J.O. & Norcross, J.C. (1999). *Systems of Psychotherapy: A Transtheoretical Analysis* (4th ed.). Michigan: Brooks/Cole Publishing Company.

Public Health England (2016). *Health matters: getting every adult active every day*. Retrieved from <u>https://www.gov.uk/government/publications</u>

Reichert, F. F., Barros, A. J. D., Domingues, M. R., & Hallal, P. C. (2007). The role of perceived personal barriers to engagement in leisure-time physical activity. American Journal of Public Health, 97(3), 515-519. doi:10.2105/AJPH.2005.070144

Richard Thaler [Richard Thaler]. (2012, July 16). *Smart Disclosure-The Regulatory Future* [Video file]. Retrieved from https://www.youtube.com/watch?v=S5z2e0xriCU

Riemsma, R. P., Pattenden, J., Bridle, C., Sowden, A. J., Mather, L., Watt, I. S., & Walker, A. (2002). A systematic review of the effectiveness of interventions based on a stages-of-change approach to promote individual behaviour change. Health Technology Assessment (Winchester, England), 6(24), 1.

Robbins, L.B., Pender, N.J., Ronis, D.L., Kazanis, A.S., & Pis, M.B. (2004). Physical activity, self-efficacy, and perceived exertion among adolescents.. *Research in Nursing & Health*, 27 (6), 435-446. doi: 10.1002/nur.20042.

Sallis, J. F., Bowles, H. R., Bauman, A., Ainsworth, B. E., Bull, F. C., Craig, C. L., ... Bergman, P. (2009). Neighborhood environments and physical activity among adults in 11 countries. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *36*(6), 484-490. doi:10.1016/j.amepre.2009.01.031 Sallis, J.F., Cervero, R.B., Ascher, W., Henderson, K.A., Kraft, K., & Kerr, J. (2006). An ecological approach to creating active living communities. *Annual Review of Public Health*, 27 (1), 297-322. doi: 10.1146/annurev.publhealth.27.021405.102100.

Sallis, J.F., Floyd, M.F., Rodríguez, D.A., & Saelens, B.E. (2012). Role of built environments in physical activity, obesity, and cardiovascular disease. *Circulation*, *125* (5), 729-737. doi: 10.1161/CIRCULATIONAHA.110.969022.

Sallis, J.F., Prochaska, J.J., & Taylor, W.C. (2000). A review of correlates of physical activity of children and adolescents.. *Medicine & science in sports & exercise*, *32* (5), 963-975. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/10795788</u>.

Schutzer, K. A., & Graves, B. S. (2004). Barriers and motivations to exercise in older adults. United States: Elsevier Inc. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2004.04.003

Sharma, A., Madaan, V., & Petty, F.D. (2006). Exercise for Mental Health. *Primary Care Companion to The Journal of Clinical Psychiatry*, 8 (2), 106-107. Retrieved from <a href="https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1470658/">https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pmc/articles/PMC1470658/</a>.

Sharma, M., Sargent, L., & Stacy, R. (2005). Predictors of leisure-time physical activity among African American women. *American journal of health behavior, 29* (4), 352-359. Retrieved from <u>https://www.ncbi.nlm.nih.gov/pubmed/16006232</u>.

Silverman, D. (1993). *Interpreting qualitative data: methods for analysing talk, text and interaction*. London: Sage.

Slater, A. & Tiggemann, M. (2010). "Uncool to do sport": A focus group study of adolescent girls' reasons for withdrawing from physical activity. *Psychology of Sport and Exercise*, *11* (6), 619-626. doi: 10.1016/j.psychsport.2010.07.006.

Sloan, R. A., Haaland, B. A., Leung, C., & Müller-Riemenschneider, F. (2013). The use of point-of-decision prompts to increase stair climbing in Singapore. *International Journal of Environmental Research and Public Health*, *10*(1), 210-218. doi:10.3390/ijerph10010210 Snape D & Spencer L (2003) The foundations of qualitative research. In: J Ritchie, J Lewis, eds. Qualitative research practice. London: Sage, 1-23.

Soler, R. E., Leeks, K. D., Buchanan, L. R., Brownson, R. C., Heath, G. W., Hopkins, D. H., & Task Force on Community Preventive Services. (2010). Point-of-decision prompts to increase stair use. A systematic review update. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, *38*(2 Suppl), S292.

Stalsberg, R. & Pedersen, A.V. (2010). Effects of socioeconomic status on the physical activity in adolescents: a systematic review of the evidence.. *Scandinavian journal of medicine & science in sports, 20* (3), 368-383. doi: 10.1111/j.1600-0838.2009.01047.x.

Stokols, D. (1992). Establishing and maintaining healthy environments: Toward a social ecology of health promotion. American Psychologist, 47(1), 6-22. doi:10.1037/0003-066X.47.1.6

Strunin, L., Díaz-Martínez, A., Díaz-Martínez, L.R., Kuranz, S., Hernández-Ávila, C.A., Pantridge, C.E., & Fernández-Varela, H. (2015). Natural mentors and youth drinking: a qualitative study of Mexican youths.. *Health Education Research*, *30* (4), 660-670. doi: 10.1093/her/cyv030.

Stults-Kolehmainen, M.A. & Sinha, R. (2014). The effects of stress on physical activity and exercise. *Sports Medicine*, 44 (1), 81-121. doi: 10.1007/s40279-013-0090-5.

Swinburn, B., Egger, G., & Raza, F. (1999). Dissecting obesogenic environments: The development and application of a framework for identifying and prioritizing environmental interventions for obesity. *Preventive Medicine*, 29(6), 563-570. doi:10.1006/pmed.1999.0585

Telama, R., Yang, X., Viikari, J., Välimäki, I., Wanne, O., & Raitakari, O. (2005). Physical activity from childhood to adulthood: a 21-year tracking study. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 28 (3), 267-273. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2004.12.003.

Tester, J., & Baker, R. (2009). Making the playfields even: Evaluating the impact of an environmental intervention on park use and physical activity. Preventive Medicine, 48(4), 316-320. doi:10.1016/j.ypmed.2009.01.010

Thaler, R.H. & Sunstein, C.R. (2008). *Nudge: improving decisions about health, wealth, and happiness*. New Haven, Conn, London: Yale University Press.

UK Active. (2014). *Turning the tide of inactivity*. Retrieved from <u>www.ukactive.com/turningthetide</u>.

Ulijaszek, S. J., & McLennan, A. K. (2016). Framing obesity in UK policy from the blair years, 1997-2015: The persistence of individualistic approaches despite overwhelming evidence of societal and economic factors, and the need for collective responsibility: Framing obesity in UK policy (1997-2015). *Obesity Reviews*, *17*(5), 397-411. doi:10.1111/obr.12386

Van der Horst, K., Paw, M.J.C.A., Twisk, J.W., & Van Mechelen, W. (2007). A brief review on correlates of physical activity and sedentariness in youth.. *Medicine & Science in Sports & Exercise*, *39* (8), 1241-1250. doi: 10.1249/mss.0b013e318059bf35.

Van Hoecke, A., Seghers, J., & Boen, F. (2017). Promoting stair climbing in a worksite and public setting: Are footprints enough? *American Journal of Health Promotion*, .89011711769428. doi:10.1177/089011711694284

van Sluijs, E. M. F., van Poppel, M. N. M., Twisk, J. W. R., & van Mechelen, W. (2006). Physical activity measurements affected participants' behavior in a randomized controlled trial. Journal of Clinical Epidemiology, 59(4), 404-411. doi:10.1016/j.jclinepi.2005.08.016

Veitch, J., Ball, K., Crawford, D., Abbott, G. R., & Salmon, J. (2012). Park improvements and park activity: A natural experiment. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 42(6), 616.

Vlaev, I., King, D., Dolan, P., & Darzi, A. (2016). The theory and practice of "Nudging": Changing health behaviors. *Public Administration Review*, *76*(4), 550-561. doi:10.1111/puar.12564

Voorhees, C.C., Murray, D., Welk, G., Birnbaum, A., Ribisl, K.M., Johnson, C.C. ... Jobe, J.B. (2005). The Role of Peer Social Network Factors and Physical Activity in Adolescent Girls. *American Journal of Health Behavior*, 29 (2), 183-190. doi: 10.5993/AJHB.29.2.9.

Warburton, D.E.R., Nicol, C.W., & Bredin, S.S.D. (2006). Health benefits of physical activity: the evidence. *Canadian medical association journal*, *174* (6), 801-809. doi: 10.1503/cmaj.051351.

West, S. T., & Shores, K. A. (2011). The impacts of building a greenway on proximate residents' physical activity. Journal of Physical Activity & Health, 8(8), 1092-1097

Wilcox, S., Der Ananian, C., Abbott, J., Vrazel, J., Ramsey, C., Sharpe, P.A., & Brady, T. (2006). Perceived exercise barriers, enablers, and benefits among exercising and nonexercising adults with arthritis: Results from a qualitative study. *Arthritis and Rheumatism*, *55* (4), 616-627. doi: 10.1002/art.22098.

Willis, L. E. (2013). When nudges fail: Slippery defaults. The University of Chicago Law Review, 80(3), 1155-1229.

World Health Organisation. (2016). Physical Activity. Retrieved from <u>http://www.who.int/topics/physicalactivity/en/</u>.

Wu, S., Cohen, D., Shi, Y., Pearson, M., & Sturm, R. (2011). Economic Analysis of Physical Activity Interventions. *American Journal of Preventive Medicine*, 40 (2), 149-158. doi: 10.1016/j.amepre.2010.10.029.

Yancey, A.K., Grant, D., Kurosky, S., Kravitz-Wirtz, N., & Mistry, R. (2011). Role modeling, risk, and resilience in California adolescents.. *Journal of Adolescent Health, 48* (1), 36-43. doi: 10.1016/j.jadohealth.2010.05.001.

Zhang, T., Soloman, M.A., Gao, Z., & Kosma, M. (2012). Promoting School Students' Physical Activity: A Social Ecological Perspective. *Journal of Applied Sport Psychology*, *24* (1), 92-105. doi: 10.1080/10413200.2011.627083.

# <u>Appendix</u>

# Appendix 1 – Images of prompts

Examples of phase 1 prompts:





Examples of phase 2 prompts:







#### Environmental Nudges into Physical Activity

You are being invited to take part in an intervention around health behaviour, physical activity and the environment we live in.

Before you decide to take part it is important that you understand why the research is being done and what it will involve. Please take time to read the following information carefully and discuss it with the researcher if you wish. Please do not hesitate to ask if there is anything that is not clear or if you would like more information.

#### What is the study about?

The purpose of this study is to find out whether changing our surroundings with prompts (e.g signs) can help us to make positive health behaviour choices. The data and research from this study will be used in a report which will include comments and views from participants involved in the research (names will not be used as all research is anonymous and identity of participants is not disclosed)

#### Why I have been approached?

You have been asked to participate as we are recruiting a range of individuals from around Kirklees to get a wide perspective of opinions and experiences. We have selected three areas in Kirklees: Huddersfield University; Kirklees Council; Netherhall Learning Academy. You have been invited as a member of one of these organisations.

#### Do I have to take part?

It is your decision whether or not you take part. If you take part you will be asked to sign a consent form, and you are free to withdraw at any time and without giving a reason.

#### What will I need to do?

If you agree to take part in the research you will be asked to take part in two focus groups across a period of around three months (this is really just a discussion with four or five people like yourself and a researcher). Each focus group will be around 45 minutes long. Each focus group will be recorded and then used for research puposes. This will only be used by researchers on the project.

Following the focus groups you *may* be asked if you would also take part in an interview lasting between 30 and 45 minutes to talk in more depth about exercise behaviour and experience. This is entirely voluntarily and you are able to participate in the focus groups only if this is preferred.

#### Will my identity be disclosed and what will happen to the information?

Your participation in the focus groups will be anonymised. That is your name will not be disclosed in any way following the focus group. All information collected from you during this research will be kept secure. It is anticipated that the research will be published in articles and report. In these false names will be used and your identity will not be disclosed. Your words in the presentation of the findings and your permission for this is included in the consent form. No-one other than the researcher/s and facilitator/s will have access to the personal and identifiable information provided, unless the interviewee indicates that s/he or anyone else is at risk of serious harm. In this case the interviewer would approach the safeguarding lead identified within each host organisation.

The information will be used to present a report and academic papers to communicate the findings of the study to the wider public. These publications will include anonymised comments and views expressed by participants as well as stories created by the researcher to reflect the experiences of participants.

## Who can I contact for further information?

If you require any further information about the research, please contact me on:

Dr. Nicola Eccles

NicolaEccles@communitypartners.co.uk

#### <u> Appendix 3 – Consent form</u>

#### **Environmental Nudges**

It is important that you read, understand and sign the consent form. Your contribution to this research is entirely voluntary and you are not obliged in any way to participate, if you require any further details please contact your researcher.

If you are satisfied that you understand the information and are happy to take part in this project please put a tick in the box aligned to each sentence and print and sign below.

Signature of Participant:	Signature of Researcher:		

Print:	Print:
Date:	Date:

(one copy to be retained by Participant / one copy to be retained by Researcher)

# <u> Appendix 4 – Focus group questions</u>

Focus groups overview – (The following acts as a guide only. It is expected that conversation will naturally veer away from the prescribed bullet points below and these avenues of discussion will be fully explored by the researcher):

# Pre intervention

Researcher: Explains general information about the concept of behaviour change and prompts. Reiterates that participation is voluntary and that participants are free to withdraw at any time.

Prompts (purpose is to find out about daily living... about how and where people could fit in exercise...about the choices they make in terms of daily movement):

- Tell me about your lives... how much 'free time' do you have (based on the general concept that 'free time' is when people exercise
- Tell me how you travel to work/school
- What do you do at the weekends
- Let's talk about daily living activities... parking next to the entrance at Tesco, taking the lift instead of the stairs etc... how do you make those decisions?

# Post intervention

Prompts (the purpose here is to find out whether they have seen and taken on board the media. Has it altered any behaviour or choices?)

- Have you been aware of any media in your work/school environment and surrounds (two phase)?
- Can you describe this to me?
- Do you consider that you have changed any behaviour in response to these?
- Why or why not?
- How could this be improved in order to activate greater change?
- What are the things that would bring about regular exercise?

## **Environmental Nudges**





Your responses to this questionnaire will contribute to an on-going project by CP Active, a not-for-profit health organisation titled 'Environmental Nudges', this study looks at how our environment affects health behaviour, specifically physical activity.

The questionnaire will take no longer than fifteen minutes to complete. If you wish to opt out of this study please leave the questionnaire blank and hand it back to the researcher.

There will be a second questionnaire in a few weeks' time which we will also ask you to complete. You are asked to provide a false name or code so that we can see if there are any changes to your responses. This is to ensure that all your data will remain anonymous. You will need to use the same false name/code the next time you complete this questionnaire so please write it down somewhere so you can remember.

Please circle whether you are:

Staff / Student

Male / Female

False Name / Code \_\_\_\_\_

Thank you for taking part in the study.

## **Stages of Change Instrument**

Page 93

# Regular Physical Activity:

The current UK guidelines recommend that children should take part in **60 minutes of physical activity each day** (or more) and for **adults it is 150 minutes a week** (or more). Examples of physical activity include: walking briskly, cycling, swimming, playing sports and dancing. Your heart rate and/or breathing should increase, but there is no need to exhaust yourself. Please answer all questions by circling Yes or No.

According to the definition above:

1. Do you currently engage in regular physical activity?

## Yes / No

2. Do you intend to engage in regular physical activity in the next 6 months?

## Yes / No

3. Do you intend to engage in regular physical activity in the next 30 days?

## Yes / No

4. Have you been regularly physically active for the past 6 months?

Yes / No

## Self-efficacy Questionnaire

This part looks at how confident you are to exercise when other things get in the way. Read the following items and fill in the circle that best expresses how each item relates to you in your leisure time. Please answer using the following 5-point scale

1	2	3	4	5
Not at all	Somewhat	Moderately	Very	Completely
confident	confident	confident	confident	confident

I am confident I can participate in regular exercise when:

1.	It is raining or snowing or icy1	2	3	4	5
2.	I am under a lot of stress1	2	3	4	5
3.	I feel I don't have the time1	2	3	4	5
4.	I have to exercise alone1	2	3	4	5
5.	I don't have access to a place for exercise1	2	3	4	5
6.	I am spending time with friends	.1	2	3	4

# **Decisional Balance**

This section looks at positive and negative aspects of exercise. Read the following items and indicate how important each statement is with respect to your decision to exercise or not to exercise in your leisure time by filling in the appropriate circle. Please answer using the following 5-point scale:

1	2	3	4	5
Not	Slightly	Moderately	Very	Extremely
important	important	important	important	important

1.	I would have more energy for my family and friends if I				
	exercised regularly1	2	3	4	5
2.	I would feel embarrassed if people saw me exercising1	2	3	4	5
3.	I would feel less stressed if I exercised regularly1	2	3	4	5
4.	Exercise prevents me from spending time with my friends1	2	3	4	5
5.	Exercising puts me in a better mood for the rest of the day1	2	3	4	5

6.	I feel uncomfortable or embarrassed in exercise clothes	3	4	5
7.	I would feel more comfortable with my body if I exercised regularly. 1 5	2	3	4
8.	There is too much I would have to learn to exercise	3	4	5
9.	Regular exercise would help me have a more positive outlook on life. 1 5	2	3	4

# **Attitudes Towards Physical Activity**

## **Positive Attitudes Towards Physical Activity**

In the table below, mark how much you agree or disagree with the following statements. Where, 1 =disagree a lot, 2 =slightly disagree, 3 =neither agree nor disagree, 4 =slightly agree and 5 =agree a lot

If I were to be physically active during my free time on most days	Rating
1. It would help me cope with stress.	
2. It would help me make new friends.	
3. It would get or keep me in shape.	
4. It would make me more attractive.	
5. It would give me more energy.	
6. It would make me better in sports, dance, and other activities.	

# Negative Attitudes Towards Physical Activity

If I wer	Rating	
1.	It would be painful	
2.	It would be difficult	

3.	It would be embarrassing	
4.	It would make me feel uncomfortable	
5.	It would make me tired	
6.	It would make me sore	
7.	It would be a hassle	
8.	It would take too much time	

# **Processes of Change**

The following experiences can affect the exercise habits of some people. Think of similar experiences you may be currently having or have had **during the past month**. Then rate how frequently the event occurs by circling the appropriate number. Please answer using the following 5-point scale:

	1	2	3	4		5		
	Never	Seldom (Rarely)	Occasionally	Often	Rep	eate	dly	
1.	I read articles to I	earn more about exe	ercise	1	2	3	4	5
2.	I get upset when	I see people who wo	ould benefit from e	exercise but c	hoos	se		
	not to exercise.			1	2	3	4	5
3.	I realise that if I d	lon't exercise regular	ly, I may get ill an	d be a burde	n			
	to others			1	2	3	4	5
4.	I feel more confic	lent when I exercise	regularly	1	2	3	4	5
5.	I have noticed tha 5	at many people knov	v that exercise is g	jood for them	n. 1	2	3	4
6.	When I feel tired,	I make myself exerc	ise anyway becaus	e I know I wi	II			
	feel better afterv	vards		1	2	3	4	5

7.	I have a friend who encourages me to exercise when I don't feel up to it. 1 4 5				
8.	One of the rewards of regular exercise is that it improves my mood. 1 5		2	3	4
9.	I tell myself that I can keep exercising if I try hard enough1	2	3	4	5
10.	I keep a set of exercise clothes with me so I can exercise whenever I get the time1	2	3	4	5
11.	I look for information related to exercise1	2	3	4	5
12.	I am afraid of the results to my health if I do not exercise1	2	3	4	5
13.	I think that by exercising regularly I will not be a burden to the healthcare system	2	3	4	5
14.	I believe that regular exercise will make me a healthier, happier person 5	n. 1	2	3	4
15.	I am aware of more and more people who are making exercise a part of their lives1	2	3	4	5
16.	Instead of taking a nap after school/work, I exercise1	2	3	4	5
17.	I have someone who encourages me to exercise1	2	3	4	5
18.	I try to think of exercise as a time to clear my mind as well as a work for my body1		3	4	5

19. I make commitments to exercise	1	2	3	4	5
20. I use my calendar to schedule my exercise time	1	2	3	4	5
21. I find out about new methods of exercising	1	2	3	4	5
22. I get upset when I realise that people I love wou if they exercised		2	3	4	5
<ol> <li>I think that regular exercise plays a role in reduc</li> <li>5</li> </ol>	ing health care costs.	1	2	3	4
24. I feel better about myself when I exercise	1	2	3	4	5
25. I notice that famous people often say that they	exercise regularly. 1	2	3	4	5
26. Instead of relaxing by watching TV or eating, I ta 5	ake a walk or exercise	. 1	2	3	4
27. My friends encourage me to exercise	1	2	3	4	5
28. If I engage in regular exercise, I find that I get the having more energy.		2	3	4	5
29. I believe that I can exercise regularly	1	2	3	4	5
30. I make sure I always have a clean set of exercise	e clothes1	2	3	4	5